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Auckland Philharmonia 
Orchestra is the musical 
heart of Auckland and its 
communities and inspires  
a life-long love of 
orchestral music.

Ko Te Rāngai Puoro 
Tuatini o Tāmaki Makau 
Rau te hā o te oro ki 
Tāmaki whānui me te 
whakaoho i te manawaroa 
mō te rāngai puoro.
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It is my pleasure to report on 2019 on behalf of the 
Auckland Philharmonia Orchestra Board.

Once again, we had an exciting year with 
a rich combination of mainstage concerts, 
engagement with our diverse Auckland 
communities, and collaborations with our 
fellow arts companies in Auckland and 
further afield. In addition to our work on the 
concert platform, we were proud to reach 
32,000 young people through our APO 
connecting work, and over 171,000 people 
internationally through our livestreams. 
We know through both the numbers and 
qualitative feedback that orchestral music 
is uplifting, engaging and relevant for the 
communities of Tāmaki Makaurau, Auckland 
and we are proud to continue and develop 
our artform which is many centuries old.  

With Giordano Bellincampi at the musical 
helm, our musicians were inspired in 
their music-making and in turn, inspired 
and delighted our audiences. Our aim 
is to make the APO an integral part of 
Auckland’s identity and our many full 
houses, enthusiastic audiences and strong 
community connections are a measure 
of our success with this. We continue to 
enjoy, and reap benefits from, our home 
in the Auckland Town Hall, both as our 
administrative centre and our performance 
base. Being in the heart of Auckland’s 
artistic quarter reinforces how much the 
city values the APO. In turn we are very 
proud to serve as, and be identified as, the 
city’s resident professional orchestra, and 
the sense of belonging and ownership is 
something we sincerely appreciate.

Alongside our many successes, 2019 had 
some financial challenges including the 
late cancellation of an opera season. The 
APO Board decided to keep the orchestra’s 
momentum by producing some additional 
performances. Although these inevitably 
resulted in the need to approve a deficit 
budget, it was pleasing to see that our year 
end result was on target: a testament to the 
APO management’s careful cost control 
and maximising of income streams. 

During the second half of the year there 
were funding reviews from both our central 
and local government funders (CNZ and 
ARAFB respectively). Mid-way through 

2019 we were also grateful to learn of a 
funding uplift from CNZ in recognition of 
the excellent work that we do, and our 
alignment to CNZ’s strategy and vision for 
the role of the Arts in Aotearoa. 

The review undertaken at the request of 
the ARAFA Board involved an extensive 
organisational review and I am pleased 
that, not unexpectedly, the APO was shown 
to be very well-managed and governed 
with efficiencies in every area. The Review 
highlighted the issue that the Board has 
been aware of for a long time – inadequate 
player remuneration – and thanks to the 
Funding Board we now have a pathway 
forward to address this issue, in partnership 
with the players. 

I would like to acknowledge and express 
our gratitude to Auckland ratepayers 
through the Auckland Regional Amenities 
Funding Act (ARAFA) and to Creative 
New Zealand (CNZ) for understanding 
that we cannot continue to thrive without 
their unwavering support. Philanthropic 
and sponsor contributions are also critical 
to our success, and it is gratifying to see 
the continued and increased support we 
have across the community through our 
sponsors, donors, friends and subscribers.

In my role as Chairman I am fortunate to be 
supported by a very active and dedicated 
Board and I would like to offer thanks 
to each member of the team; they all 
contribute so much energy and wisdom to 
their roles. We were pleased to welcome 
three new Board members during the year: 
Oliver Sealy, Naisi Chen and Gordon Hill. 
I would also like to thank Eric Renick for 
his five years on the Board as our player-
elected representative. 

I would like to express my sincere gratitude 
to APO Chief Executive Barbara Glaser and 
her team for their hard work, enthusiasm 
and commitment to orchestral music. And 
finally the musicians of the orchestra who 
delight us week after week performing with 
flair and passion, inspiring our audiences 
and contributing to the vitality of our 
wonderful city.

CHAI R MAN’S 
R E PORT

Geraint A. Martin
CHAI R MAN
AU C K LAN D P H I LHAR M O N IA 
O R C H ESTR A TR UST B OAR D

“Being in the heart 
of Auckland’s artistic 
quarter reinforces how 
much the city values 
the APO.”
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2019 was another wonderful year of music-making for the 
APO and music-listening for our audiences. It is heartening 
to see the continued growth in numbers and appreciation of 
the quality and role of the orchestra in our community. 

It was the fourth year with Giordano 
Bellincampi as our Music Director and the 
excitement and focus of our musicians 
when he is on the podium is profound. In 
2019 he continued to concentrate on the 
masterworks of Berlioz, Schumann, Brahms, 
Nielsen, Beethoven and Mozart, adding 
some spice with 21st century composers 
such as Thomas Adès and Salina Fisher. 
Our Opera in Concert with Giordano, Don 
Giovanni, was once again a highlight of the 
year with a capacity audience and top-
drawer soloists from around the world and 
New Zealand. Giordano also made his first 
excursion into Bruckner with the APO, with 
a wonderfully spacious Bruckner 7 paired 
with a rare performance of Beethoven’s 
Triple concerto and a star line-up of 
international soloists.

Complementing Giordano’s work we 
welcomed some marvellous guest 
conductors including Bertrand de Billy, who 
drew a stunning performance of Franck’s D 
minor Symphony from our very enthusiastic 
musicians, and Vladimir Ashkenazy who 
returned to give us a memorable Dvořák 
Seventh Symphony. This turned out to be 
one of his last performances before he 
announced his retirement early in 2020. We 
are so grateful to have had the opportunity 
to bring this legendary musician to 
Auckland twice so that our audiences could 
experience his artistry first-hand. We were 
also delighted to welcome back Kazuki 
Yamada for a thrilling performance of Boléro 
amongst other musical gems. 

A significant musical moment of the year 
was the New Zealand premiere of the Ligeti 
Violin Concerto, which was performed by 
our very talented concertmaster Andrew 
Beer. This was a landmark performance 
for Andrew and for the orchestra and we 
remain very grateful to Kiwi conductor 
Hamish McKeich for stepping in to 
conduct the concert at the last minute. 
Other soloists we were delighted to 
present included Joanna McGregor (piano) 
and Cynthia Millar (ondes Martenot) for 

Messiaen’s Turangalîla Symphony, pianists 
Alexander Gavrylyuk and Javier Perianes, 
both APO favourites, and James Ehnes, one 
of the world’s finest violinists. 

Through several of these concerts we 
were proud to take our orchestra and our 
city to the world through our livestreamed 
performances, and we made over 171,000  
new friends in this way, many of whom 
posted comments and really engaged with 
both APO and Auckland. 

We continued our commitment to New 
Zealand artists, in particular female 
composers and conductors. This included 
performances conducted by Holly Mathieson 
and Tianyi Lu, violinist Amalia Hall, who 
gave us a stunning Saint-Saëns Third Violin 
Concerto, and a newly commissioned 
work by composer Salina Fisher. We know 
there is still much work to do to build the 
opportunities and profile of women in the 
classical music world, and we are excited to 
be on this journey. 

APO is always strengthened by engaging 
in positive organisational partnerships and 
collaborations, which continue to enable 
us to push our boundaries and bring the 
best experiences to wider and more diverse 
audiences.  

In 2019 we maintained our ongoing and 
highly valued relationships with the New 
Zealand Opera, Royal New Zealand 
Ballet, New Zealand International Film 
Festival and Michael Hill International 
Violin Competition (MVHIC). For the first 
time we also partnered with the Australian 
National Academy of Music (ANAM), which 
enabled us to present the first Auckland 
performance of Messiaen’s monumental 
Turangalîla Symphony alongside the 
Auckland Arts Festival (AAF). This 
enormous undertaking, with over 100 
musicians on stage, was a feature of both 
AAF and of the APO concert year and was 
enjoyed by tens of thousands of people 
across the world through our livestream of 
the concert. Through exposing the APO to 

CH I E F 
EXECUTIVE’S 
R E PORT

“APO is always 
strengthened by 
engaging in positive 
organisational 
partnerships and 
collaborations ...”

AP O.C O.N Z 9
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some of Australia’s best young musicians 
we also expanded our reputation and reach 
to one of our close musical neighbours.

We were particularly proud of our 
partnership with the Auckland Writer’s 
Festival. Under this umbrella we presented 
APO’s major commission for 2019, 
Kenneth Young’s Man, Sitting in a Garden, 
a one-act one-man opera with libretto by 
New Zealand writer Witi Ihimaera. This 
was widely regarded as a highlight of the 
Festival. Our gratitude remains with Jared 
Holt who stepped in at short notice for an 
indisposed Simon O’Neill.

Anyone who attended Planet Earth II Live 
in Concert, presented in partnership with 
Auckland Live and BBC Studios and/
or Auckland Arts Festival’s Magic Flute 
directed by Barrie Kosky, will remember 
them for a long time to come. Each 
charted new territory in impact and beauty, 
complemented by the power of the APO. 
Our performances with the circus theatre 
group The Dust Palace once again drew 
gasps of awe from audiences as the 
talented circus performers hung from ropes 
and silks above the heads of the APO 
musicians.

Our work on the concert hall stage was 
once again complemented by our work 
out in our communities. We see this as 
an equally valuable part of our remit as a 
Metropolitan orchestra and we take our 
responsibilities to our communities very 
seriously, and we are delighted to fulfil 
these to the highest level.

In total we reached over 32,000 people 
through APO Connecting events. We had 
62 education partnerships through our 
APOPs programme. We are proud of the 
fact that a significant part of our programme 
is delivered in South Auckland, and we are 
thrilled with the impact that orchestral music 
can have in these communities bringing 
both the love and the knowledge of music 
to every corner of Auckland. 

This year we partnered with Carnegie Hall 
for the first time to present the community 
project Link Up which saw around 
400 young South Auckland students 
play alongside the APO on recorders, 
trombones and harpsicles (baby harps). 
It was an inspirational experience for all 
concerned, with great feedback from the 
students and their music teachers, and 
we look forward to continuing to offer this 
innovative and stimulating project.

APO Connecting also featured the usual 
and much-loved array of activity from 
our Community Classics events in West, 
South and Central Auckland and specially 
designed programmes for our South 
Auckland whānau Pese! Fasi! Pūoru! 
The ever-popular APO 4 Kids concerts 

continued to excite and enthral the 
youngest members of our community and 
their families with a number of full houses 
across the year.

Our ongoing partnership with the 
University of Auckland provides aspiring 
young musicians with access to concerts, 
masterclasses and open rehearsals. We 
know that we are influencing their life 
choices in a positive way and giving them 
opportunities they would not otherwise 
have.

We are always keen to look for new 
opportunities to introduce the next 
generation of audiences, and in 2019 we 
created several new events for our future 
subscribers. A highlight was Amazing Mr 
Mozart, a specially created show which 
introduced the genius of Mozart and his 
music aided by author/illustrator Donovan 
Bixley. The young and young at heart had a 
wonderful time!

Early in the year our Session Series 
featured TEEKS (Te Karehana Gardiner-
Toi), a talented young singer-songwriter, 
headlining his first ever New Zealand show 
with the APO. The climax of the concert 
was a spine-tingling version of Ria Hall’s 
waiata ‘Te Ahi Kai Pō’ with kapa haka 
champions Ngā Tumanako.

2019 was also a very sad moment in time 
for the APO community, with the sudden 
death of John Ure, a founding member 
of the APO, and for the past decade and 
a half, its Director of Operations. John’s 
dedication, passion and commitment 
to every aspect of the orchestra was 
unparalleled. He had a prodigious memory 
of the details of every performance, 
especially those of the early days. His 
memory and his legacy will live on for a very 
long time for the whole APO whānau. We 
are certainly very blessed to have had this 
wonderful human as a driving force for APO 
over a very long period. 

Once again, our success has been 
based on strategically focussed planning, 
committed artistic leadership, determination 
and belief in music’s ability to transform 
lives. I’d like to thank our supporting 
organisations for their steadfast allegiance 
to the future of the Orchestra. The ongoing 
support of The Auckland Philharmonia 
Foundation, under Chairman Belinda 
Vernon and her successor Robert Clark, 
and the APO Friends, led by Bryce Bartley 
then Jackie Wilkinson, allows us to deliver 
on our strategy.

We could not have achieved everything we 
did in 2019 without the talents, hard work 
and dedication of the whole APO team: our 
wonderful musicians who create power and 
beauty every week on the Great Hall stage, 
and transform lives inspiring a love of music 

through every education concert and school 
visit. They give so much to the orchestra 
and the city and I know our audiences of all 
ages love and appreciate them.

Their work is made possible by the talented 
and dedicated APO staff who leave no 
stone unturned to ensure that our musicians 
can play at their best to large, enthusiastic 
and appreciative audiences. 

We said goodbye to five musicians during 
the year and I would particularly like to 
thank Ruth Brinkman, Rae Crossley-Croft, 
Sarah Hart, and Ping Tong Chan for their 
long years of dedicated service.

The APO Board once again provided 
the guidance and wisdom to keep us 
travelling our true course. During the year 
we welcomed three new board members, 
Naisi Chen and Oliver Sealy, both of whom 
are already making a positive impact on our 
organisation, and our new player-elected 
board member Gordon Hill, the APO’s 
section leader double bassist. Lope Ginnen 
had to step down as she took up a new 
position as a District Court judge, and 
we thanked Eric Renick for his service of 
just over five years as the player-elected 
representative on the Board.  

Finally I would like to thank our core 
funders: Auckland Council, through the 
Regional Amenities Funding Act, Creative 
New Zealand, Foundation North and 
Four Winds Foundation. The APO is also 
fortunate and grateful to receive support 
from many other trusts, foundations and 
individual donors who recognise the value 
in supporting the orchestra and investing 
in quality of life through culture, as well as 
supporting a legacy for the next generation.

Our corporate partners are, as ever, an 
important part of our family, and I would 
like to welcome Du.Today, Metlifecare and 
St John as new partners in 2019. I’m also 
pleased that three of our partners increased 
their commitment and level of support 
to the APO with Bayleys and Chapman 
Trip moving from Gold to Platinum level 
sponsors and QMS from Silver to Gold. It 
is gratifying to see how much our partners 
value and benefit from the relationship they 
have with us. 

As we move into celebrating our 40th 
birthday there are some exciting changes 
on the horizon and some opportunities 
to lift the orchestra to the next level. They 
say life begins at 40 and we can’t wait for 
the next phase of our life to start, whilst 
acknowledging the many giants on whose 
shoulders we stand. 

Barbara Glaser
CH I E F EXECUTIVE
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MAN, S ITTI NG I N A GAR D E N

“The APO, under the direction of Tecwyn 
Evans delivered Kenneth Young’s music in 
a way that enveloped the contemplations 
and recollections of The Man. The music 
captured the brightness, colour and light 
of Maughan’s paintings from the opening 
movement, with its light strings depicting 
the beauty of the foliage and the flitting 
butterflies. The music, which at times 
owed something to the music of Benjamin 
Britten, provided an uplifting counterpoint 
to the despair of the singer’s lament.”
J O H N DALY-P EO P LES,  THE NATIONAL BUSINESS REVIEW

TH E TR USTS COM M U N ITY FOU N DATION  
OPE RA I N CONCE RT: DON G IOVAN N I

“Auckland Philharmonia 
Orchestra’s Don Giovanni must 
be its finest Opera in Concert 
yet … the splendid APO played 
centre stage, with Maunder’s 
grim and funny morality tale 
laid out around it. Conducting 
with verve and joy, Giordano 
Bellincampi opened up a 
Mozartian musical heaven and, 
best of all, allowed us to enter it.”
WI LLIAM DART,  R EVI EWE R,  NZ HERALD

ARTI STIC & 
PE R FOR MANCE 
H IG H LIG HTS 
2019 saw the APO continue its artistic growth under the  
leadership of Music Director Giordano Bellincampi

In his fourth season as the APO Music 
Director, Giordano Bellincampi’s focus on 
facilitating artistic growth through astute 
programming of core repertoire has resulted 
in another year of improved performance 
standards right across the concert 
season. His work on major symphonies 
by composers such as Berlioz, Bruckner, 
Schumann, Schubert, Brahms and Nielsen 
was an opportunity to develop style and 
galvanise technique. Other works by 
composers such as Strauss, Falla, Wagner 
and others added colour and drama to the 
concert programming. 

As always, a particular highlight was our 
annual opera in concert, which in 2019 was 
Mozart’s Don Giovanni. With a great cast 
and a sold-out house, it was an event that 
everyone who attended will remember for a 
long time. 

We had some welcome returns to the 
podium, none more so than Vladimir 
Ashkenazy, making one of his final 
performances in his career before retiring. 

Other returning conductors included 
Douglas Boyd and Kazuki Yamada, while 
we also played host to some of the finest 
international conductors in the industry, 
including Bertrand de Billy, Ludovic Morlot 
and Sofie Jeannin, each making their debut 
with the APO. We were also thrilled to have 
New Zealanders, Hamish McKeich, Tecwyn 
Evans, Tianyi Lu and Holly Mathieson on the 
podium. 

2019 was a particularly stellar year for 
soloists. The phenomenal Viktoria Mullova 
helped ensure we had a sold-out house 
for her performance of the Sibelius Violin 
Concerto. Similarly, performers such as 
British violinist Anthony Marwood, Italian 
pianist Alessio Bax, Canadian violinist 
James Ehnes, Spanish pianist Javier 
Perianes, and the great pipa player, Wu 
Man, inspired our musicians just as much 
as they enthralled our audiences. 

Our audiences enjoyed our range of 
popular events and concerts, aimed 
at diverse markets. In 2019 we had a 

breath-taking repeat of a collaboration 
with Auckland based circus troupe The 
Dust Palace, a live performance of the 
glorious score from BBC Planet Earth II, 
and an evening of songs from some of New 
Zealand’s great songwriters in our NZ Mix 
Tape show, featuring guest artists Nadia 
Reid, Anna Coddington and Liam Finn. 

As always, the APO’s collaborative spirit 
meant that our contribution to events within 
other organisations’ artistic seasons were of 
the very highest quality. Stand out was our 
performance of Messiaen’s extraordinary 
Turangalîla Symphony in the Auckland 
Arts Festival. Performances of Rossini’s 
Barber of Seville with New Zealand Opera, 
Hansel & Gretel with Royal New Zealand 
Ballet, Kenneth Young and Witi Ihimaera’s 
Man, Sitting in a Garden with the Auckland 
Writers Festival, and a wonderful concert 
of opera arias and choruses to celebrate 
the re-naming of the Kiri Te Kanawa 
Theatre rounded out a year of performance 
highlights. 
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BAYLEYS PR E S E NTS TH E N Z M IX TAPE

“Anna’s vocals delivered 
a heartfelt rendition of the 
classic track [Anchor Me 
by The Mutton Birds] and 
the Auckland Philharmonia 
Orchestra provided an 
excellent backdrop to the 
song, which I’m sure would 
have brought a tear to the eye 
of the great Don McGlashan  
if he had been there.”
DAVI D B OYLE,  R EVI EWE R,  R AD I O 13

TU RANGALÎ LA 

“The musicians captured 
all the extreme contrasts 
in the work from the pure 
and delicate to the fiery 
and brutal. They kept 
enough energy in reserve 
to serve up an exuberant, 
joyous, and triumphant 
final movement that 
brought many in the 
audience to their feet.”
P ETE R H OAR,  RNZ CONCERT UPBEAT

P H OTO:  C H R I S  ZWAAG DYK

AP O.C O.N Z 13



CE LE B RATI NG 
N EW Z EALAN D

WOR LD PR E M I E R E S OF 
N EW Z EALAN D WOR KS
Ross Harris: Symphony No.7 (excerpt)

Philip Norman: Snake and Lizard, by Joy Cowley

Reuben Rameka: Hīkoi

Reuben Rameka: Ko Maui me Te Ra

Charles Royal: Ra Te Rongo Kino

Kirsten Strom: Far Flung Scarf of the Wrybill

Ryan Youens: Moon Dust

Ryan Youens: Munro: A Show Fanfare

Kenneth Young & Witi Ihimaera: Man, Sitting in a Garden

OTH E R N EW Z EALAN D 
WOR KS
Chris Adams: Introducing the Orchestra

Claire Cowan: Hansel and Gretel

Phil Dadson: Percussion Works for voices & tone bars

Eve de Castro-Robinson: Aurora

Eve de Castro-Robinson: Releasing the Angel (excerpt)

Salina Fisher Komorebi: for vibraphone & violin

Salina Fisher: Murmuring Light

John Psathas: Fanfare for a Supercity

John Ritchie: Serenade for Strings

14
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TEEKS & APO

“Have you ever heard ‘Never Be 
Apart’ with a slamming brass and 
percussion section? It blows the 
original recording out of the water. 
This is where the APO unveils 
its real power, and to a recent 
orchestral convert like me, I can’t 
help but hope some younger faces 
in the audience have been lured in 
by the voice and convinced by the 
brass.”
WAVENEY RUSS, RNZ MUSIC

TEEKS & APO

“Congratulations to TEEKS 
and Auckland Philharmonia 
Orchestra for an amazing 
performance last night. This is 
what meaningful engagement 
and reciprocal collaboration 
with indigenous arts look like.” 
NATIVESBEWOKE, FACEBOOK

AP O.C O.N Z 15
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N EW Z EALAN D ARTI STS PE R FOR M I NG 
WITH TH E APO I N 2019

ORCH E STRAL SU M M E R SCHOOL

David Kay, conductor
Thomas Hamill, presenter
Christine Lee, violin
Qiaotong Liu, piano

G R EAT CLASS ICS:  
M US ICAL POSTCAR D S

Kirstin Darragh, mezzo soprano

TE E KS & APO 

David Kay, conductor
TEEKS, vocalist
Holly Smith, vocalist
Majic Paora, backing vocalist
Anna Grahame-Dougal, backing vocalist
Nick Dow, piano
Tom Broome, drums
Nga Tumanako, kapa haka

APO 4 KI D S:  
STORYTI M E (CE NTRAL)

David Kay, conductor
Kevin Keys, presenter
Kim Garrett, narrator
Te Pumanawa o Toku Ate Rogers, little 

singer
Emma Eden, horn

APO 4 KI D S: STORYTI M E (NORTH)

David Kay, conductor
Kevin Keys, presenter
Kim Garrett, narrator
Te Pumanawa o Toku Ate Rogers, little 

singer
Emma Eden, horn

G R EAT CLASS ICS:  
A BAROQU E EASTE R

Anna Leese, soprano
James Ioelu, bass baritone

D I SCOVE RY

Tianyi Lu, conductor, presenter
Xin (James) Jin, violin
Caroline Normal, viola
Choralation, choir

APO U P CLOS E WITH TU BA

Xin (James) Jin, presenter
Tak Chun Lai, tuba
Sarah Watkins, piano

BAYLEYS PR E S E NTS: DAH LE SQU E

David Kay, conductor

MAN, S ITTI NG I N A GAR D E N

Tecwyn Evans, conductor
Jared Holt, tenor

PLAN ET EARTH I I  LIVE I N CONCE RT

David Kay, conductor
Clarke Gayford, narrator
Fiona Tibbles, soprano
Catherine Kwak, cello
Voices NZ, choir

BAYLEYS PR E S E NTS:  
TH E N Z M IX TAPE

David Kay, conductor
Nadia Reid, vocalist
Anna Coddington, vocalist
Liam Finn, vocalist

D E LOITTE WI NTE R GALA

Ray Chan, conductor
Natasha Wilson, vocalist
Cameron Barclay, vocalist
Paul Chan, organ
Jennifer Ward-Lealand, MC

M E LTI FECAR E U NWRAP TH E 
M US IC: HAN D E L’S WATE R M US IC

Educational Resource
Marija Naumovska, presenter

TH E N EW Z EALAN D H E RALD 
PR E M I E R S E R I E S: PATH ÉTIQU E 

Andrew Beer, violin

COM M U N ITY CLASS ICS:  
LIG HT & DAR K (CE NTRAL)

Ray Chan, conductor
Suzy Cato, presenter
Soomin Kim, piano
Taniwha Ventures, kapa haka
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TH E TR USTS COM M U N ITY 
FOU N DATION OPE RA I N CONCE RT: 
DON G IOVAN N I

Natasha Wilson, soprano
Morgan Pearse, baritone
Freemasons NZ Opera Chorus, chorus

KB B M US IC PR E S E NTS: PETE R & 
TH E WOLF LIVE 

Thomas Hamill, narrator

COM M U N ITY CLASS ICS: LIG HT & 
DAR K (WE ST)

Ray Chan, conductor
Suzy Cato, presenter
Frank Chen, piano
Taniwha Ventures, kapa haka

PE S E! FAS I! PŪOR U!

Zeeah Rona Waerea-Tamai, vocalist
Carla Camilleri, soprano
Te Ohorere Williams, soprano
Graham Bell, guitar

N Z I FF: TH E LODG E R  
A STORY OF TH E LON DON FOG 

Peter Scholes, conductor

APO U P CLOS E WITH VIVALD I

 Xin (James) Jin, presenter/violin

B IG PLAY I N

Amber Read, presenter

AMAZ I NG M R MOZART

Donovan Bixley, narrator
Pasquale Orchard, soprano
William King, baritone

AUCKLAN D CHORAL:  
BACH, B R UCKN E R

Uwe Grodd, conductor
Andrew Beer, director/violin
Isabella Moore, soprano
Joel Amosa, bass baritone
Philip Smith, organ

APO 2020 S EASON LAU NCH

Amelia Berry, soprano
Rebecca-Soojung Lee, organ

G R EAT CLASS ICS: PASTORAL

Amalia Hall, violin

BAYLEYS PR E S E NTS: DAWN – APO 
& TH E D UST PALACE

Liu-Yi Retallick, violin
David Garner, cello

COM M U N ITY CLASS ICS: LIG HT & 
DAR K (SOUTH)

Marianna Kang, piano

KIWI KAPE R S

Diane Huh, violin
Liu-Yi Retallick, violin
David Garner, cello

LOCKWOOD N EW Z EALAN D AR IA

James Harrison, baritone
Xin (James) Jin, violin

A GALA CONCE RT I N TH E 
PR E S E NCE OF DAM E KI R I TE 
KANAWA

Anna Leese, soprano
Pene Pati, tenor
James Ioelu, bass baritone
Freemasons NZ Opera Chorus, chorus

APO 4 KI D S: CH R I STMAS

Conductor, David Kay
Panimals, steel pan group
Spike Chilberto, Little Drummer
Sefita Finau, Little Drummer
Nathan Jin, Little Drummer
Eli Le Fevre, Little Drummer
Nikau Grace, Little Singer
Emer Lee, Little Singer
Jazz Vidamo, Little Singer

WAI R UA HAR I KOA

Conductor, David Kay
Panimals, steel pan group

TH E RYMAN H EALTHCAR E S EASON 
OF HAN S E L & G R ETE L

Hamish McKeich, conductor

CE LE B RATE CH R I STMAS

Isabella Moore, soprano
The Graduate Choir NZ, Choir
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One of the best NZ 
orchestras in the world,  
so proud to be a Kiwi.

It’s 4am in Chicago, USA 
and this is what I’m doing! 
Great job! Loved it!

Oh that finale! It speaks to 
people all round the world 
and lifts us in one emotion. 
Thank God for music. 

OU R 
AU D I E NCE S 

PEOPLE EXPE R I E NCE D TH E 
APO PE R FOR M LIVE I N 2019

70 S E LF-PR E S E NTE D CONCE RTS

APO 
LIVESTR EAMS253,128

OTH E R CONCE RTS

171,417 
TOTAL AU D I E N C E 
VI EWS I N 2019

TOTAL  
V I EWI N G  
T I M E 

≈3,330 
HOU RS

What a privilege 
it is to hear such 
stunning musical 
performances from 
the comfort of our 
own homes.

10,668
N Z O P E R A AN D 
R OYAL N EW 
Z EALAN D BALLET 
P E R FO R MAN C ES

27,967

17,299
OTH E R H I R ES

PEOPLE H EAR D TH E APO 
AT OTH E R PE R FOR MANCE S

38,290
MAI N STAG E AN D 
C O M M U N ITY 
C O N C E RTS 

8,057
C O N C E RTS FO R 
C H I LD R E N AN D 
FAM I LI ES

53,744
5,602
E D U CATI O N 
C O N C E RTS FO R 
S C H O O LS

1,795
F R E E 
C O M M U N ITY 
C O N C E RTS

PEOPLE ATTE N DE D
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We had such a fabulous 
morning at the Xmas 
concert and must simply 
commend the APO; we’re 
super impressed and the 
kids are now humming 
along to the Nutcracker. 
It doesn’t get better than 
this. Well done APO! 
C O N C E RTG O E R

APO WEBSITE

APO SOCIAL

11,742
FACE BOOK 
FOLLOWE RS

1,127
TWITTE R 
FOLLOWE RS

≈9,000 
VI EWS PE R 
MONTH ON 
YOUTU B E

147,739
US E RS I N 2019

662,283
PAG E VI EWS  
I N 2019

AU D I E N C E 
F E E D BAC K

M ETLI FECAR E U NWRAP TH E 
M US IC: U NWRAP MOZART’S 
CLAR I N ET CONCE RTO

APO 4 KI D S  
CH R I STMAS - CE NTRAL 

I wanted to say how much 
I enjoyed the performance 
last night unwrapping 
Mozart’s Clarinet Concerto. 
This was highly informative 
and interactive and all 
the more enjoyable with 
a better understanding of 
some of the composition 
background. 
C O N C E RTG O E R

BAYLEYS PR E S E NTS 
TH E N Z M IX TAPE

The arrangements
were impeccable,
the performances
inspired and the song
selection perfect.
C O N C E RTG O E R
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PUTA NOA 
W HAKĀRO MAI NGĀ 
TAONGA PUORO

M US IC 
OPE N S 
M I N D S

“Attending APO 
4 KIDS will be a 
precious memory 
that I will always 
remember doing 
with my daughter. 
We have attended 
every single one 
since she was 
eleven months 
old and she is 
now four.” 
AU D I E N C E M E M B E R,  
APO 4 K I D S STO RYTI M E
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E D UCATION 
AN D OUTR EACH 

APO Connecting brings together our 
professional players with schools, 
individuals and communities. In a flagship 
programme that is the envy of many other 
orchestras and widely applauded by 
educators and community leaders, we 
inspire young musicians, connect music 
makers and music lovers of the present and 
the future, and offer concerts, workshops 
and tutorials. 

From introductory music sessions for 
pre-schoolers to professional development 
and mentoring for aspiring musicians, 
composers and conductors, APO 
Connecting presents orchestral music 
concerts and experiences suited to a wide 
range of needs and interests.

Through APO Connecting, the APO links to all sections of 
our community. Our education and outreach activities and 
concerts are designed to excite and engage audiences across 
the region and to share our passion for orchestral music. 

“The variety of 
the programme 
showcasing engaged 
and passionate young 
performers was 
inspiring. My 8-year 
old granddaughter 
who sings keeps 
mentioning the young 
singer ‘I want to be 
like her.’” 
AU D I E N C E M E M B E R,  
APO 4 K I D S C H R I STMAS

Over 6,000 children and their families 
attended concerts throughout the Auckland 
Region in 2019. The interactive concerts 
provide a fun, educational way, to introduce 
the youngest members of the family to the 
full orchestra. 

The concerts featured guest soloists and 
provided performance opportunities for 
aspiring young musicians and composers 
to showcase their talents. Highlights 
included APO 4 Kids: Storytime, where 
classic stories from celebrated NZ authors 
Margaret Mahy and Joy Cowley came to 
life and APO 4 Kids: Christmas, at which 
steel-pan band The Panimals joined the 
full orchestra for a tropical-inspired festive 
concert. 

CON N ECTI NG WITH FAM I LI E S
HE TŪHONO KI NGĀ WHĀNAU
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934 

32,432

P R OVI D E D

MINUTES

AUCKLANDERS

O F LIVE M US I C I N 
S O UTH AU C K LAN D

E N GAG E D

AS PARTI C I PANTS 
O R AU D I E N C E 
M E M B E R S

I N 2019 APO 
C O N N ECTI N G. . .

In 2019 the APO Partnership Schools 
(APOPS) programme provided 62 schools 
across Auckland with access to ensemble 
performances, mentoring, tickets and 
transport to APO concerts. Supporting 
teachers and students of all ages and 
backgrounds, 59 professional APO players 
provided 630 hours of mentoring and  
7,193 students attended 44 ensemble  
visits at schools. 

Mentors provided orchestral and band 
sectional workshops, composition 
workshops, instrumental tuition, created 
new school ensemble groups, aided 
performance preparation and gave general 
music-making sessions. 

A total of 106 schools and 5,248  students 
experienced the APO live in concert, 
attending eight educational concerts for 
schools produced by the APO in 2019.
The APOPS programme also provided 
professional mentoring to two Auckland 
youth orchestras. 

CON N ECTI NG WITH SCHOOLS
HE TŪHONO KI NGĀ KURA

“What the APO 
mentoring programme 
has done for us is 
given us a bridge 
to new skills. The 
mentors that have 
come into our school 
have fitted in perfectly, 
and been of the 
highest calibre.” 
B R E N DA S P I C E R,  P R ES I D E NT O F 
PAPAK U R A M US I C S C H O O L 
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379

7,122

TIMES

VI S ITE D A 
S C H O O L 
O R YO UTH 
O R C H ESTR A

P R OVI D E D

SCHOOL 
CONCERT 

TICKETS

The APO Aspiring Musicians programme 
works with musicians aged 16 to 25, 
through regular activities designed to 
nurture their talent and shape Auckland’s 
future musicians. This includes APO 
and the University of Auckland’s Inspire 
Partnership Programme.

In 2019, the Inspire year-long programme 
included The Big Play In, where 60 
students performed with APO musicians 
at the Auckland Town Hall, to create a 
giant orchestra comprising 130 musicians. 
The APO Rising Star Composer for 2019, 
Reuben Rameka, composed two new works 
that were performed for the public by the full 
orchestra and Diane Huh, Young Soloist of 
the Year, performed Ravel’s Tzigane across 
the APO’s Kiwi Kapers concert series. 

The programme supported aspiring 
musicians by providing Scholarships, Open 
Rehearsals, Masterclasses, Internships, 
Composition Competitions and The 
Haydn Staples APO Piano Scholarship 
Programme. The APO Young Achievers 
programme employed ensembles of 
budding musicians to perform at public 
events throughout the Auckland region.

More than 1,000 people, aged 2 to 92, 
attended free community concerts from 
throughout the Auckland region. The APO’s 
Community Classics series provided the 
opportunity for audiences in Central, South 
and West Auckland to have an orchestral 
concert experience at no cost. 

The concerts featured well-known 
repertoire as well as Kapa Haka group 
Taniwha Ventures performing the world 
premiere of Dr Charles Royal’s (Marutūahu 
Ngāti Raukawa and Ngā Puhi) Te Arapūoru 
Community Commission Ra Te Rongo Kino. 

Pese! Fasi! Pūoru! partnered the traditional 
orchestra with aspiring South Auckland 
musicians from Sistema Aotearoa. More 
than 100 students performed alongside the 
full APO at this event. 

Wairua Harikoa, a concert specifically for 
early childhood children in the Wiri area of 
South Auckland, taught children how to 
‘Call the Ambulance’ through song in the 
classroom and then together with the full 
orchestra in a participatory performance. 
This concert was made possible through a 
partnership with St John Ambulance.

CON N ECTI NG WITH AS PI R I NG M US ICIAN S
HE TŪHONO KI ĀKONGA WAIATA

CON N ECTI NG WITH COM M U N ITI E S
HE TŪHONO KI NGĀ IWI

“This scholarship has 
been such a good 
experience; I am grateful 
to have played Godard’s 
Introduction et Allegro 
with the orchestra in 
its Community Classics 
concert. This was my first 
time playing alongside 
an orchestra and the 
opportunity is all thanks 
to the Haydn Staples 
APO Piano Scholarship 
Programme.” 
F R AN K C H E N, 2019 HAYD N 
STAP LES APO P IAN O S C H O LAR S H I P 
P R O G R AM M E 

“Absolutely wonderful 
experience for our 
children to be invited 
to. Thanks so much 
for the wonderful gifts 
at the end. We loved 
the ambulance song 
and Chris Sanders was 
fantastic. Celebrity in 
his own right. Awesome, 
awesome, awesome!” 
AU D I E N C E M E M B E R,  WAI R UA HAR I KOA
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M US ICIAN S 

M US IC D I R ECTOR

Giordano Bellincampi

CONCE RT MASTE R

Andrew Beer

ASSOCIATE 
CONCE RTMASTE R

Liu-Yi Retallick

ASS I STANT 
CONCE RTMASTE R

Miranda Adams

FI R ST VIOLI N S 

Artur Grabczewski # 
Lauren Bennett
Mark Bennett
Elzbieta Grabczewska
Rachel Moody
Ainsley Murray 
Alexander Shapkin 
Yanghe Yu
Lucy Qi Zhang 
Yuri Cho V

S ECON D VIOLI N S 

Dianna Cochrane β 
Xin (James) Jin + 
William Hanfling # 
Jocelyn Healy 
Liam Oborne
Milena Parobczy
Ewa Sadag
Katherine Walshe
Charmian Keay V

Lucia Siwy V

VIOLAS

Robert Ashworth β 
David Samuel + 
Christine Bowie # 
Anne Draffin # 
Helen Bevin 
Gregory McGarity 
Susan Wedde 
WenChuan Lin V

CE LLOS

Vacancy β 
David Garner + 
Chen Cao# 
Liliya Arefyeva
Katherine Hebley 
You Lee
Callum Hall V

BASS E S

Gordon Hill β 
Annabella Zilber + 
Evgeny Lanchtchikov # 
Matthias Erdrich 
Michael Steer
Eric Scholes V

FLUTE S

Melanie Lançon β

Kathryn Moorhead +

PICCOLO 

Jennifer Seddon-Mori *

OBOE S 

Bede Hanley β

Camille Wells +

CORANG LAI S

Martin Lee *

CLAR I N ETS 

Jonathan Cohenβ

Bridget Miles  
(Bass Clarinet) +

James Fry (Eb Clarinet) +

BASSOON S 

Ingrid Hagan β

Yang Rachel Guan Ebbett +

CONTRABASSOON 

Jessica Goldbaum V

HOR N S 

Nicola Baker β

Norberto Lopez Garcia = V

Carl Wells #

Simon Williams #

David Kay

TR U M PETS 

Huw Dann β 
Rainer Saville+ 
Josh Rogan #

TROM BON E S 

Douglas Crossβ

Ben Lovell Greene +

BASS TROM BON E 

Timothy Sutton *

TU BA

Tak Chun Lai *

TI M PAN I 

Steven Logan β

PE RCUSS ION 

Eric Renick β 
Jennifer Raven # 
Shane Currey

HAR P 

Ingrid Bauer *

M E ET APO
AS AT MARCH 2020

M US ICIAN KEY: 

β Section Principal

= Co Principal

* Principal

+ Associate Principal 

# Sub-Principal

V Vacancy filled by  
 contract musician
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APO MANAGE M E NT 

G E N E RAL MANAG E M E NT

Chief Executive Barbara Glaser
PA to CEO/Receptionist Katie Deller

ARTI STIC 

Director of Artistic Planning  
Ronan Tighe 

Artistic Administrator Frances Moore
Artistic Administrator (Parental leave) 

Antonia Barnett-McIntosh
Artistic Coordinator Debbie Nicholson 
Librarian Robert Johnson
Deputy Librarian Charlotte Francis 

OPE RATION S 

Director of Operations Wendy Gardiner
Acting Orchestra Manager Amber Read
Assistant Orchestra Manager 

Rangimakehu Hall
Production Supervisor Vacancy
Deputy Production Supervisor  

Adrian Raven

B US I N E SS PARTN E R S H I PS AN D 
MAR KETI NG

Deputy CEO/Director of Business 
Partnerships & Marketing Stuart Angel

Deputy Director of Marketing Tracey 
Holdsworth

Communications Manager Vacancy
Marketing & Business Partnerships 

Executive Rahul Patel
Digital Content Coordinator  

Robin Lane 
Marketing Coordinator Ben Gemmell 

Business Partnerships Manager 
Colleen Edwards

Business Partnerships & Events 
Executive Rowan Newton

Sales & Ticketing Manager  
Helen Spoelstra

Sales & Ticketing Coordinator  
Vacancy

D EVE LOPM E NT 

Director of Development Susan Wall 
Trusts & Foundations Manager  

Emma Gavenda
Development Manager Adele Diviney
Annual Giving Programmes Executive 

Charlotte Crocker
Development Coordinator  

Lauren Garrett

APO CON N ECTI NG 

Director of APO Connecting  
Thomas Hamill

Producer Felicity McKenzie
Education Programmes Facilitator 

Miriam McCombe
Projects Executive Graham Bell

B US I N E SS S E RVICE S 

Director of Business Services  
Heather Wallace

Assistant Accountant Stephanie Shen 
Accounts Administrator/Payroll 

Michelle Li 
Accounts Administrator  

Wynn Riechelmann

AUCKLAN D PH I LHAR MON IA 
ORCH E STRA BOAR D 

Geraint A. Martin 
(Chairman)

Leigh Auton
Naisi Chen
Richard Ebbett

Gordon Hill
Pare Keiha
Kieran Raftery QC
Oliver Sealy
Julian Smith

PATRON S 

Dame Jenny Gibbs, 
DNZM

Dame Rosanne 
Meo, DNZM, 
OBE

Dame Kiri Te 
Kanawa, DBE, 
ONZ

Dame Catherine 
Tizard, GCMG, 
GCVO, DBE, 
ONZ, QSO

Sir James Wallace, 
KNZM, ONZM

BOARD AND SU PPORT ORGAN ISATIONS 

AUCKLAN D PH I LHAR MON IA 
ORCH E STRA SOCI ETY EXECUTIVE 
COM M ITTE E

Huw Dann 
(Chairperson) 

Jenny Raven 
(Secretary) 

Xin (James) Jin
Bridget Miles 
Tim Sutton 
Sue Wedde

AUCKLAN D PH I LHAR MON IA 
FOU N DATION 

Chairman  
Robert Clark

Trustees
Belinda Vernon 
Richard Ebbett 

Mark Gatward 
Haydn Staples 
Simon Williams
Peter Wilson, 

ONZM

AUCKLAN D PH I LHAR MON IA 
ORCH E STRA FR I E N D S 

President  
Jackie Wilkinson

Secretary  
Anne Norris
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FI NANCIAL 
OVE RVI EW 

2019 I NCOM E STR EAM S 2019 EXPE N D ITU R E

R EVE N U E STR EAM S $’000

PE R FOR MANCE I NCOM E $2,613

CE NTRAL G OVE R N M E NT FU N DI NG $2,687

LOCAL G OVE R N M E NT FU N DI NG $3,192

TR UST FU N DI NG $1,377

COR PORATE SPONSOR SH I P  
(EXCL CONTRA) $435

CONTRA R EVE N U E $1,206

FU N DRAIS I NG $942

OTH E R $91

$12,543

MAI N AR EAS OF EXPE N D ITU R E $’000

R E M U N E RATION $7,070

VE N U E AN D PRODUCTION  $993 

ARTISTIC R E LATE D COSTS  
(EXCL COR E R E M U N E RATION)

$1,816

ADM I N ISTRATION  $883 

MAR KETI NG  $775 

CONTRA EXPE NSE $1,206

FU N DRAIS I NG $140

$12,883

O F APO’S 
I N C O M E 
WAS S E LF 
G E N E R ATE D

O U R TU R N OVE R WAS

M I LLI O N

$12.5 53%

55%

8%

14%

7%

6%

9% 1%

22%

25%

11%

7% 1%

3%

10% 21%
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DIRECTORY 
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Nature of business New Zealand’s full-time professional metropolitan orchestra 
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AUCKLAND PHILHARMONIA TRUST 

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 

Statement of Responsibility for Financial Statements 

The Auckland Philharmonia Trust Board members are pleased to present the approved financial statements for the financial 
year end 31 December 2019, and the independent auditor's report thereon.  

The Board and management accept responsibility for the preparation of the financial statements and judgments used in them, 
and hereby adopt the financial statements as presented. They also accept the responsibility for establishing and maintaining a 
system of internal control designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of financial reporting. In 
the opinion of the Board and management, the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019, fairly reflect the 
financial position, financial performance, and cash flows of Auckland Philharmonia Group which comprises Auckland 
Philharmonia Trust and Auckland Philharmonia Foundation.  

APPROVED 

Geraint A. Martin 

Board Chairman 

Date……………………….. 

Richard Ebbett 
Trustee 

Date……………………….. 31.03.2020

31.03.2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE TRUSTEES OF AUCKLAND PHILHARMONIA TRUST 

 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of Auckland Philharmonia Trust (“the Trust”) and the 
consolidated financial statements of the Trust and its subsidiary (together, “the Group”), which 
comprise the Trust and the consolidated statements of financial position as at 31 December 2019, 
and the Trust and the consolidated statements of comprehensive revenue and expense, the Trust 
and consolidated statements of changes in net assets/equity and the Trust and consolidated 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the Trust and the consolidated 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying Trust and consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Trust and the consolidated financial position of the 
Group as at 31 December 2019, and the Trust’s and the consolidated financial performance and the 
Trust’s and the consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Public Benefit 
Entity Standards Reduced Disclosure Regime (“PBE Standards RDR”) issued by the New Zealand 
Accounting Standards Board. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) 
(“ISAs (NZ)”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Trust and the Consolidated Financial Statements section of 
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with Professional and Ethical Standard 
1 (Revised) Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners issued by the New Zealand Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Other than in our capacity as auditor we have no relationship with, or interests in, the Trust its 
subsidiary. 
 
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 
 
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 19 to the financial statements, which 
describes events subsequent to the date of the financial statements of the Trust indicating that the 
Trust will have reduced business activities for a period of time due to the impact of COVID-19. As 
stated in Note 19, these events or conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 19, 
indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Trust’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 
 
Other Matter  
 
The financial statements of the Trust and the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 were 
audited by another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 27 March 
2019. 
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Other Information  
 
The Trustees are responsible for the other information. The other information obtained at the date 
of this auditor’s report is information contained in the annual report, but does not include the 
Trust and the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 
 
Our opinion on the Trust and the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other 
information and we do not express any form of audit opinion or assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the Trust and the consolidated financial statements, our 
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the Trust and the consolidated financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.   
 
If, based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of 
this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  
 
Trustees’ Responsibilities for the Trust and the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
The Trustees are responsible on behalf of the Trust and the Group for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the Trust and the consolidated financial statements in accordance with PBE 
Standards RDR, and for such internal control as the Trustees determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of Trust and the consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the Trust and the consolidated financial statements, the Trustees are responsible on 
behalf of the Trust and the Group for assessing the Trust and the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the Trustees either intend to liquidate the Trust or the Group or 
to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Trust and the Consolidated Financial Statements  
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Trust and the consolidated 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (NZ) will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the decisions of users taken on the basis of these Trust and the consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs (NZ), we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Trust and the consolidated 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
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• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Trust and the Group’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.  

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of accounting by the 
Trustees and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Trust’s or the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 
are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the Trust 
and the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Trust or the Group to 
cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the Trust and the consolidated 
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the Trust and the consolidated 
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.  

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of 
the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 
We communicate with the Trustees regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit.  
 
Who we Report to  
 
This report is made solely to the Trust’s Trustees, as a body. Our audit work has been undertaken 
so that we might state those matters which we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report 
and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the Trust and the Trust’s Trustees, as a body, for our audit 
work, for this report or for the opinions we have formed. 
 
 
 
 
 
BDO Auckland  
Auckland 
New Zealand 
31 March 2020 
 
 

AUCKLAND PHILHARMONIA TRUST 

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 

Consolidated and Separate Statement of comprehensive revenue and expense 

Group Trust 

Notes 
2019 

2018 
Restated 2019 

2018 
Restated 

$ $ $ $ 

Revenue from exchange transactions 5 4,333,171 4,131,847 4,253,463 4,159,274 
Revenue from non-exchange transactions 6 7,890,428 8,049,547 8,197,679 8,252,710 

Total revenue (excluding gains) 12,223,599 12,181,394 12,451,142 12,411,984 

Employee costs 12 7,069,708 7,094,301 7,069,708 7,094,301 

Other expenses 13 5,631,085 5,244,316 5,658,189 5,263,687 

Depreciation and amortisation 15 & 
16 

170,172 187,464 152,928 169,468 

Total expenses 12,870,965 12,526,081 12,880,825 12,527,456 

Finance income 7 284,207 310,773 91,107 108,917 

Finance costs 7 489 - 489 - 

Net finance revenue 283,718 310,773 90,618 108,917 

Operating surplus/(deficit) (363,648) (33,914) (339,065) (6,555) 

Other gains/(losses) 8 592,053 60,394 (884) (3,957) 
Net surplus/(deficit) for the year 228,405 26,480 (339,949) (10,512) 

Other comprehensive revenue and expenses - - - - 

Total comprehensive revenue and expenses 
for the year 

228,405 26,480 (339,949) (10,512) 
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AUCKLAND PHILHARMONIA TRUST 

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 

Consolidated and Separate Statement of comprehensive revenue and expense 

Group Trust 

Notes 
2019 

2018 
Restated 2019 

2018 
Restated 

$ $ $ $ 

Revenue from exchange transactions 5 4,333,171 4,131,847 4,253,463 4,159,274 
Revenue from non-exchange transactions 6 7,890,428 8,049,547 8,197,679 8,252,710 

Total revenue (excluding gains) 12,223,599 12,181,394 12,451,142 12,411,984 

Employee costs 12 7,069,708 7,094,301 7,069,708 7,094,301 

Other expenses 13 5,631,085 5,244,316 5,658,189 5,263,687 

Depreciation and amortisation 15 & 
16 

170,172 187,464 152,928 169,468 

Total expenses 12,870,965 12,526,081 12,880,825 12,527,456 

Finance income 7 284,207 310,773 91,107 108,917 

Finance costs 7 489 - 489 - 

Net finance revenue 283,718 310,773 90,618 108,917 

Operating surplus/(deficit) (363,648) (33,914) (339,065) (6,555) 

Other gains/(losses) 8 592,053 60,394 (884) (3,957) 
Net surplus/(deficit) for the year 228,405 26,480 (339,949) (10,512) 

Other comprehensive revenue and expenses - - - - 

Total comprehensive revenue and expenses 
for the year 

228,405 26,480 (339,949) (10,512) 
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AUCKLAND PHILHARMONIA TRUST 

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 

Consolidated and Separate Statement of changes in net assets / equity 

Notes Accumulated surplus Total equity 

Sustainable 
capital 
reserve 

Special 
reserve 

Operating 
reserves 

$ $ $ 
Group 

As at 1 January 2018 6,836,640 1,721 3,004,784 9,843,145 

Transfers 21 181,330 (1,721) (179,609) - 
Total comprehensive revenue and expense for 
the period 

- - 26,480 26,480 

Balance as at 31 December 2018 7,017,970 - 2,851,655 9,869,625 

Transfers 21 213,690 - (213,690) - 
Total comprehensive revenue and expense for 
the period 

- - 228,405 228,405 

Balance as at 31 December 2019 7,231,660 - 2,866,370 10,098,030 

Trust 

As at 1 January 2018 1,887,312 - 1,766,498 3,653,810 

Transfers 21 37,862 (37,862) - 
Total comprehensive revenue and expense for 
the period 

- - (10,512) (10,512) 

Balance as at 31 December 2018 1,925,174 - 1,718,124 3,643,298 

Transfers 21 - 
Total comprehensive revenue and expense for 
the period 

- - (339,949) (339,949) 

Balance as at 31 December 2019 1,925,174 - 1,378,175 3,303,349 

AUCKLAND PHILHARMONIA TRUST 

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 

Consolidated and Separate Statement of financial position 
Group Trust 

Notes 2019 2018 
Restated 

2019 2018 

$ $ $ $ 
ASSETS 

Current assets 

Receivables from exchange transactions 9 260,955 325,120 248,601 316,153 
GST receivable 39,078 74,663 - 28,248
Prepayments 128,282 232,392 126,852 231,037

Cash and cash equivalents 10 1,343,090 457,660 1,167,279 304,539
Short-term investments - maturities > 3 months 10 3,287,335 4,027,110 2,521,681 3,521,845  

5,058,740 5,116,945 4,064,413 4,401,822 

Non-current assets 

Property, plant and equipment 15 1,370,714 1,495,098 826,771 938,222 
Investment property 15 262,701 267,012 - - 
Investments 11 4,978,673 4,649,427 - - 
Intangible assets 16 47,932 47,389 47,932 47,389  

6,660,020 6,458,926 874,703 985,611 

TOTAL ASSETS 11,718,760 11,575,871 4,939,116 5,387,433 

LIABILITIES 

Current liabilities 

Payables from exchange transactions 17 278,069 416,611 284,982 454,503 
GST Payable - - 8,125 - 
Employee benefits 14 234,796 286,744 234,795 286,744 

Income received in advance 1,107,865 1,002,891 1,107,865 1,002,888  

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,620,730 1,706,246 1,635,767 1,744,135 

Net assets 10,098,030 9,869,625 3,303,349 3,643,298 

NET ASSETS/EQUITY 

Operating reserves 21 2,833,511 2,818,796 1,378,175 1,718,124 
Sustainable Capital Reserve 21 7,264,519 7,050,829 1,925,174 1,925,174 
NET ASSETS/ EQUITY 10,098,030 9,869,625 3,303,349 3,643,298 

For and on behalf of the Trust, which authorised the issue of the financial statements on 31 March 2020. 

Trustee Trustee 
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AUCKLAND PHILHARMONIA TRUST 

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 

Consolidated and Separate Statement of changes in net assets / equity 

Notes Accumulated surplus Total equity 

Sustainable 
capital 
reserve 

Special 
reserve 

Operating 
reserves 

$ $ $ 
Group 

As at 1 January 2018 6,836,640 1,721 3,004,784 9,843,145 

Transfers 21 181,330 (1,721) (179,609) - 
Total comprehensive revenue and expense for 
the period 

- - 26,480 26,480 

Balance as at 31 December 2018 7,017,970 - 2,851,655 9,869,625 

Transfers 21 213,690 - (213,690) - 
Total comprehensive revenue and expense for 
the period 

- - 228,405 228,405 

Balance as at 31 December 2019 7,231,660 - 2,866,370 10,098,030 

Trust 

As at 1 January 2018 1,887,312 - 1,766,498 3,653,810 

Transfers 21 37,862 (37,862) - 
Total comprehensive revenue and expense for 
the period 

- - (10,512) (10,512) 

Balance as at 31 December 2018 1,925,174 - 1,718,124 3,643,298 

Transfers 21 - 
Total comprehensive revenue and expense for 
the period 

- - (339,949) (339,949) 

Balance as at 31 December 2019 1,925,174 - 1,378,175 3,303,349 

AUCKLAND PHILHARMONIA TRUST 

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 

Consolidated and Separate Statement of financial position 
Group Trust 

Notes 2019 2018 
Restated 

2019 2018 

$ $ $ $ 
ASSETS 

Current assets 

Receivables from exchange transactions 9 260,955 325,120 248,601 316,153 
GST receivable 39,078 74,663 - 28,248
Prepayments 128,282 232,392 126,852 231,037

Cash and cash equivalents 10 1,343,090 457,660 1,167,279 304,539
Short-term investments - maturities > 3 months 10 3,287,335 4,027,110 2,521,681 3,521,845  

5,058,740 5,116,945 4,064,413 4,401,822 

Non-current assets 

Property, plant and equipment 15 1,370,714 1,495,098 826,771 938,222 
Investment property 15 262,701 267,012 - - 
Investments 11 4,978,673 4,649,427 - - 
Intangible assets 16 47,932 47,389 47,932 47,389  

6,660,020 6,458,926 874,703 985,611 

TOTAL ASSETS 11,718,760 11,575,871 4,939,116 5,387,433 

LIABILITIES 

Current liabilities 

Payables from exchange transactions 17 278,069 416,611 284,982 454,503 
GST Payable - - 8,125 - 
Employee benefits 14 234,796 286,744 234,795 286,744 

Income received in advance 1,107,865 1,002,891 1,107,865 1,002,888  

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,620,730 1,706,246 1,635,767 1,744,135 

Net assets 10,098,030 9,869,625 3,303,349 3,643,298 

NET ASSETS/EQUITY 

Operating reserves 21 2,833,511 2,818,796 1,378,175 1,718,124 
Sustainable Capital Reserve 21 7,264,519 7,050,829 1,925,174 1,925,174 
NET ASSETS/ EQUITY 10,098,030 9,869,625 3,303,349 3,643,298 

For and on behalf of the Trust, which authorised the issue of the financial statements on 31 March 2020. 

Trustee Trustee 
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AUCKLAND PHILHARMONIA TRUST      

         
CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS    
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019         

         
Consolidated and Separate Statement of cash flows    

     Group Trust 

    Notes 
2019 2018 

Restated 2019 2018 
 

    $ $ $ $ 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

      

        
Cash received from customers, related parties and 
funders 

11,235,887 10,907,049 11,435,203 11,150,524 

Interest received 
   

227,073 241,985 101,337 106,843 

Dividends received    58,317 64,692 - - 
Cash payments to related parties and suppliers 

 
(11,595,920) (11,545,872) (11,630,573) (11,572,767) 

Interest paid    (489) - (489) - 
Cash inflow / (outflow) from operating activities (75,132) (332,146) (94,522) (315,400)  

    

    

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
    

 

    

    

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 
 

(38,259) (117,644) (38,259) (117,644) 

Purchase of intangible assets  (3,759) (29,206) (3,759) (29,206) 
Short term deposits with maturities greater than 3 
months 

739,776 (804,481) 1,000,164 (521,845) 

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment - 7,295 - 294 

Cash inflow of Investments (shares and bonds) 
 

263,688 261,596 - - 

Cash outflow of Investments (shares and 
bonds)  

(884) (5,836) (884) (5,836) 

Cash inflow / (outflow) from investing 
activities  

960,562 (688,276) 957,262 (674,237) 
 

    

    

Net increase / (decrease) of cash and cash equivalents 885,430 (1,020,422) 862,740 (989,637) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 457,660 1,478,082 304,539 1,294,176 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 
year 10 1,343,090 457,660 1,167,279 304,539 

         
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AUCKLAND PHILHARMONIA TRUST  

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019           
 

Notes to the financial statements  

1. REPORTING ENTITY  

The Auckland Philharmonia Trust (the "Trust") is a public benefit entity for the purposes of financial reporting in accordance with 
the Financial Reporting Act 2013. 
These consolidated financial statements comprise the Trust and the Auckland Philharmonia Foundation (together referred to as 
the ‘Group’). 
These financial statements are presented in accordance with Public Benefit Entity Accounting Standards Reduced Disclosure 
Regime (“PBE Standards RDR”). 
 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION  

a) Statement of compliance  

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Charities Act 2005 which requires compliance with generally 
accepted accounting practice in New Zealand ("NZ GAAP"). 
 
The financial statements comply with the Public Benefit Entity Accounting Standards Reduced Disclosure Regime (“PBE Standards 
RDR”) as appropriate for Tier 2 not-for-profit public benefit entities. The Group qualifies as a Tier 2 reporting entity as it does not 
have public accountability and it is not defined as large.  All reduced disclosure regime exemptions have been adopted.  

 
These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Trustees on 31 March 2020. 

b) Measurement basis  
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for investments which have been measured at fair 
value. The financial report is presented in New Zealand dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest dollar. 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES  

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of 
contingent liabilities. Actual events or changes to assumptions or estimates could result in outcomes that require a material 
adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods. 
 

a) Judgements  

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, which have the 
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements: 
 
i. Consolidation and relationship with other entity  

Consolidated and Separate financial statements  

PBE IPSAS  34 - Separate Financial Statements and PBE IPSAS 35 - Consolidated Financial Statements supersedes PBE IPSAS 6 - 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and introduces a single 'Control Model' for all entities whereby control exists 
when all of the following conditions are present: 
- Power over investee 
- Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from the investee 
- Ability to use power over investee to affect the entity's returns from investee. 
 
The Foundation has as its major objectives, the support, assistance, maintenance, promotion, advancement and funding of the 
Trust. Thus, the Trust has an entitlement to a significant level of current or future ownership benefits which arise from the 
activities of the Foundation.  
 
The adoption of the new standards has not had any impact on the Group as all entities that are controlled by the Group as a 
result of the new definition of 'Control' are already being consolidated along with the separate presentation for the results of the 
Trust. Intra-group balances and transactions and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions are 
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.  
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AUCKLAND PHILHARMONIA TRUST      

         
CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS    
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019         

         
Consolidated and Separate Statement of cash flows    

     Group Trust 

    Notes 
2019 2018 

Restated 2019 2018 
 

    $ $ $ $ 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

      

        
Cash received from customers, related parties and 
funders 

11,235,887 10,907,049 11,435,203 11,150,524 

Interest received 
   

227,073 241,985 101,337 106,843 

Dividends received    58,317 64,692 - - 
Cash payments to related parties and suppliers 

 
(11,595,920) (11,545,872) (11,630,573) (11,572,767) 

Interest paid    (489) - (489) - 
Cash inflow / (outflow) from operating activities (75,132) (332,146) (94,522) (315,400)  

    

    

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
    

 

    

    

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 
 

(38,259) (117,644) (38,259) (117,644) 

Purchase of intangible assets  (3,759) (29,206) (3,759) (29,206) 
Short term deposits with maturities greater than 3 
months 

739,776 (804,481) 1,000,164 (521,845) 

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment - 7,295 - 294 

Cash inflow of Investments (shares and bonds) 
 

263,688 261,596 - - 

Cash outflow of Investments (shares and 
bonds)  

(884) (5,836) (884) (5,836) 

Cash inflow / (outflow) from investing 
activities  

960,562 (688,276) 957,262 (674,237) 
 

    

    

Net increase / (decrease) of cash and cash equivalents 885,430 (1,020,422) 862,740 (989,637) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 457,660 1,478,082 304,539 1,294,176 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 
year 10 1,343,090 457,660 1,167,279 304,539 

         
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AUCKLAND PHILHARMONIA TRUST  

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019           
 

Notes to the financial statements  

1. REPORTING ENTITY  

The Auckland Philharmonia Trust (the "Trust") is a public benefit entity for the purposes of financial reporting in accordance with 
the Financial Reporting Act 2013. 
These consolidated financial statements comprise the Trust and the Auckland Philharmonia Foundation (together referred to as 
the ‘Group’). 
These financial statements are presented in accordance with Public Benefit Entity Accounting Standards Reduced Disclosure 
Regime (“PBE Standards RDR”). 
 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION  

a) Statement of compliance  

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Charities Act 2005 which requires compliance with generally 
accepted accounting practice in New Zealand ("NZ GAAP"). 
 
The financial statements comply with the Public Benefit Entity Accounting Standards Reduced Disclosure Regime (“PBE Standards 
RDR”) as appropriate for Tier 2 not-for-profit public benefit entities. The Group qualifies as a Tier 2 reporting entity as it does not 
have public accountability and it is not defined as large.  All reduced disclosure regime exemptions have been adopted.  

 
These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Trustees on 31 March 2020. 

b) Measurement basis  
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for investments which have been measured at fair 
value. The financial report is presented in New Zealand dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest dollar. 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES  

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of 
contingent liabilities. Actual events or changes to assumptions or estimates could result in outcomes that require a material 
adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods. 
 

a) Judgements  

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, which have the 
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements: 
 
i. Consolidation and relationship with other entity  

Consolidated and Separate financial statements  

PBE IPSAS  34 - Separate Financial Statements and PBE IPSAS 35 - Consolidated Financial Statements supersedes PBE IPSAS 6 - 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and introduces a single 'Control Model' for all entities whereby control exists 
when all of the following conditions are present: 
- Power over investee 
- Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from the investee 
- Ability to use power over investee to affect the entity's returns from investee. 
 
The Foundation has as its major objectives, the support, assistance, maintenance, promotion, advancement and funding of the 
Trust. Thus, the Trust has an entitlement to a significant level of current or future ownership benefits which arise from the 
activities of the Foundation.  
 
The adoption of the new standards has not had any impact on the Group as all entities that are controlled by the Group as a 
result of the new definition of 'Control' are already being consolidated along with the separate presentation for the results of the 
Trust. Intra-group balances and transactions and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions are 
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.  
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AUCKLAND PHILHARMONIA TRUST  

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019           

Notes to the financial statements  

3. SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (CONT'D)  

a) Judgements (CONT'D)  

ii. Whether non-exchange revenue is subject to conditions   
For the purpose of assessing the timing of revenue recognition, the Group has assessed whether stipulations in  funding contracts 
represent conditions or restrictions to the use of non-exchange revenue, in particular whether conditions applied to funding 
would require the funds to be returned where the conditions have not been met.  

 

b) Assumptions and estimation uncertainty  

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 
the carrying value of investments recognised at fair value - see note 11.  
 

4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

  
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial statements and 
have been applied consistently by the Group.
 

a) Revenue recognition  

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential will flow to the Group and 
the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the date of receipt is being made. 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, taking into account contractually defined terms 
of receipt. 
The specific recognition criteria described below must also be met before revenue is recognised:  

i. Revenue from non-exchange transactions  

Government grants, other grants and funding  

Revenue from non-exchange transactions such as government grants, donations, legacies and bequests are recognised when the 
Group obtains control of the transferred asset, and: 

• it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential related to the asset will flow to the Group and can be 
measured reliably; and  

• the transfer is free from conditions that require the asset to be refunded or returned to the funder if the conditions 
are not fulfilled.  

To the extent that there is a condition attached that would give rise to a liability to repay any amount or to return the transferred 
asset, a deferred revenue liability is recognised. Revenue is only then recognised when the Group has satisfied the related 
conditions. 
 

Fundraising  

Fundraising non-exchange revenue is recognised at the point at which cash is received. 
 

ii. Revenue from exchange transactions  

Subscriptions  

Revenue is recognised over the period of the subscription. Amounts received in advance for subscriptions relating to future 
periods are recognised as a liability until such time that period covering the subscription occurs. 

 

AUCKLAND PHILHARMONIA TRUST

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 

Notes to the financial statements
4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)

ii. Revenue from exchange transactions (CONT'D)

Sale of goods
Revenue from merchandise sold is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the 
customer, recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated costs and possible return of goods can be estimated reliably, 
there is no continuing management involvement with the goods, and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. 
 

Rendering of services

Revenue from services rendered includes audience revenue and the hire of orchestra. Revenue from the rendering of services is 
recognised in surplus or deficit in proportion to the stage-of-completion of the transaction at the reporting date. Due to the 
services provided, the stage of completion is assessed by reference to the related performances. 
 

Amounts received in advance for performances to be provided in future periods are recognised as a liability until such time as the 
service is provided. 
 
Interest income 
For all financial instruments measured at amortised cost, interest income is recorded using the accrual basis method. Effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts over the expected life of the 
financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or liability. 

Interest income is included in finance income in the statement of comprehensive revenue and expense. 
 

Other gains and losses
Other gains and losses include realised and unrealised fair value gains and losses on disposal of investments.
 

b) Goods and services tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except: 
• When the GST incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the 

GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item, as applicable; and 

• In the case of receivables and payables, which are stated with the amount of GST included. 
 

c) Financial instruments

The Trust and Foundation (Group) initially recognises financial instruments when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. 

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when there have 
been significant changes to the terms and/or the amount of contractual payments to be received/paid, or it transfers the rights to 
receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial 
asset are transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a 
separate asset or liability. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (CONT'D)  

a) Judgements (CONT'D)  

ii. Whether non-exchange revenue is subject to conditions   
For the purpose of assessing the timing of revenue recognition, the Group has assessed whether stipulations in  funding contracts 
represent conditions or restrictions to the use of non-exchange revenue, in particular whether conditions applied to funding 
would require the funds to be returned where the conditions have not been met.  

 

b) Assumptions and estimation uncertainty  

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 
the carrying value of investments recognised at fair value - see note 11.  
 

4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

  
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial statements and 
have been applied consistently by the Group.
 

a) Revenue recognition  

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential will flow to the Group and 
the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the date of receipt is being made. 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, taking into account contractually defined terms 
of receipt. 
The specific recognition criteria described below must also be met before revenue is recognised:  

i. Revenue from non-exchange transactions  

Government grants, other grants and funding  

Revenue from non-exchange transactions such as government grants, donations, legacies and bequests are recognised when the 
Group obtains control of the transferred asset, and: 

• it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential related to the asset will flow to the Group and can be 
measured reliably; and  

• the transfer is free from conditions that require the asset to be refunded or returned to the funder if the conditions 
are not fulfilled.  

To the extent that there is a condition attached that would give rise to a liability to repay any amount or to return the transferred 
asset, a deferred revenue liability is recognised. Revenue is only then recognised when the Group has satisfied the related 
conditions. 
 

Fundraising  

Fundraising non-exchange revenue is recognised at the point at which cash is received. 
 

ii. Revenue from exchange transactions  

Subscriptions  

Revenue is recognised over the period of the subscription. Amounts received in advance for subscriptions relating to future 
periods are recognised as a liability until such time that period covering the subscription occurs. 
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Notes to the financial statements
4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)

ii. Revenue from exchange transactions (CONT'D)

Sale of goods
Revenue from merchandise sold is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the 
customer, recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated costs and possible return of goods can be estimated reliably, 
there is no continuing management involvement with the goods, and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. 
 

Rendering of services

Revenue from services rendered includes audience revenue and the hire of orchestra. Revenue from the rendering of services is 
recognised in surplus or deficit in proportion to the stage-of-completion of the transaction at the reporting date. Due to the 
services provided, the stage of completion is assessed by reference to the related performances. 
 

Amounts received in advance for performances to be provided in future periods are recognised as a liability until such time as the 
service is provided. 
 
Interest income 
For all financial instruments measured at amortised cost, interest income is recorded using the accrual basis method. Effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts over the expected life of the 
financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or liability. 

Interest income is included in finance income in the statement of comprehensive revenue and expense. 
 

Other gains and losses
Other gains and losses include realised and unrealised fair value gains and losses on disposal of investments.
 

b) Goods and services tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except: 
• When the GST incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the 

GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item, as applicable; and 

• In the case of receivables and payables, which are stated with the amount of GST included. 
 

c) Financial instruments

The Trust and Foundation (Group) initially recognises financial instruments when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. 

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when there have 
been significant changes to the terms and/or the amount of contractual payments to be received/paid, or it transfers the rights to 
receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial 
asset are transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a 
separate asset or liability. 
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)
 
c) Financial instruments (CONT'D) 

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled, or expire. 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only 
when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and 
settle the liability simultaneously. 
 
The Group's financial assets includes cash and short-term deposits, investments and trade and other receivables. These are 
classified as loans and receivables. 

The Group classifies financial assets and liabilities into the following categories: amortised cost. 
 

i. Initial recognition  

All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not recorded at fair value through 
surplus or deficit, transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.  

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition at amortised cost. 
 

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value net of directly attributable transaction costs. 
 

ii. Subsequent measurement  

Subsequent measurement is dependent on the classification of the financial instrument and is specifically detailed in the 
accounting policies below. 
 

Loans and receivables  

This category generally applies to trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents (including other short-term 
deposits). Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 
 
After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method, less impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or 
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.  
The effective interest rate is included in finance income in surplus or deficit. 
  
Cash and cash equivalents represent highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into a known amount of cash with an 
insignificant risk of changes in value, with original maturities of 3 months or less. 
 

Fair value through surplus or deficit  

Financial assets held at fair value through surplus or deficit include financial assets held for trading. Financial assets are classified 
as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. 
 
Financial assets held at fair value through surplus or deficit are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with net 
changes in fair value presented as other losses (negative net changes in fair value) or other gains (positive net changes in fair 
value) in surplus or deficit. 
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Notes to the financial statements
4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)
 

c) Financial instruments (CONT'D)  
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 
After initial recognition, trade and other payables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method. 
Trade and other payables are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. Due to their short-term nature they are 
not discounted.   
d) Impairment of financial assets 

The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets 
is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more events that has occurred since the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss 
event’) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably 
estimated. 
The Group considers evidence of impairment for financial assets measured at amortised cost (loans and receivables) at both a 
specific asset and collective level. 
 
An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its carrying 
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. Losses 
are recognised in surplus or deficit and reflected in an allowance account against loans and receivables. Interest on the impaired 
asset continues to be recognised. 
 
When an event occurring after the impairment was recognised causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in 
impairment loss is reversed through surplus or deficit.  

 
e) Property, plant and equipment  

i. Initial recognition and subsequent expenditure
Property, plant and equipment is measured initially at cost. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition 
of the items. The cost of an item of property plant and equipment is recognised only when it is probable that future economic 
benefit or service potential associated with the item will flow to the Group, and if the item’s cost or fair value can be measured 
reliably. 
 
Subsequent costs that meet the recognition criteria above are recognised in the carrying value of the item of property, plant and 
equipment. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of the property, plant and equipment if the recognition criteria are met. 
When significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts 
as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly. 

ii. Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition, property, plant and equipment are measured at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses, if any. 
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)
 
c) Financial instruments (CONT'D) 

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled, or expire. 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only 
when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and 
settle the liability simultaneously. 
 
The Group's financial assets includes cash and short-term deposits, investments and trade and other receivables. These are 
classified as loans and receivables. 

The Group classifies financial assets and liabilities into the following categories: amortised cost. 
 

i. Initial recognition  

All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not recorded at fair value through 
surplus or deficit, transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.  

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition at amortised cost. 
 

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value net of directly attributable transaction costs. 
 

ii. Subsequent measurement  

Subsequent measurement is dependent on the classification of the financial instrument and is specifically detailed in the 
accounting policies below. 
 

Loans and receivables  

This category generally applies to trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents (including other short-term 
deposits). Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 
 
After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method, less impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or 
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.  
The effective interest rate is included in finance income in surplus or deficit. 
  
Cash and cash equivalents represent highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into a known amount of cash with an 
insignificant risk of changes in value, with original maturities of 3 months or less. 
 

Fair value through surplus or deficit  

Financial assets held at fair value through surplus or deficit include financial assets held for trading. Financial assets are classified 
as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. 
 
Financial assets held at fair value through surplus or deficit are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with net 
changes in fair value presented as other losses (negative net changes in fair value) or other gains (positive net changes in fair 
value) in surplus or deficit. 
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)
 

c) Financial instruments (CONT'D)  
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 
After initial recognition, trade and other payables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method. 
Trade and other payables are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. Due to their short-term nature they are 
not discounted.   
d) Impairment of financial assets 

The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets 
is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more events that has occurred since the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss 
event’) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably 
estimated. 
The Group considers evidence of impairment for financial assets measured at amortised cost (loans and receivables) at both a 
specific asset and collective level. 
 
An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its carrying 
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. Losses 
are recognised in surplus or deficit and reflected in an allowance account against loans and receivables. Interest on the impaired 
asset continues to be recognised. 
 
When an event occurring after the impairment was recognised causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in 
impairment loss is reversed through surplus or deficit.  

 
e) Property, plant and equipment  

i. Initial recognition and subsequent expenditure
Property, plant and equipment is measured initially at cost. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition 
of the items. The cost of an item of property plant and equipment is recognised only when it is probable that future economic 
benefit or service potential associated with the item will flow to the Group, and if the item’s cost or fair value can be measured 
reliably. 
 
Subsequent costs that meet the recognition criteria above are recognised in the carrying value of the item of property, plant and 
equipment. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of the property, plant and equipment if the recognition criteria are met. 
When significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts 
as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly. 

ii. Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition, property, plant and equipment are measured at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses, if any. 
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D) 
 
e) Property, plant and equipment (CONT'D)  

iii. Depreciation  
Depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis unless specified otherwise below.  
Depreciation is charged at rates calculated to allocate the cost or valuation of the asset less any estimated residual value over its 
remaining useful life: 
 Land  not depreciated  

Buildings and improvements  4% diminishing balance method
Office equipment  2-20 years  
Computer equipment  3-5 years  
Musical instruments  3-25 years  
Music stands 5-10 years  
Music 25 years  
Motor vehicles 3-6 years  
Office refurbishment  5 years  

The assets' residual values, useful lives and amortisation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial 
year end.  
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount, or recoverable service amount, if the asset’s 
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount or recoverable service amount.  
Please refer to policy (g) on impairment of non-financial assets below.  
iv. Derecognition  
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no further future economic benefits or service 
potential are expected from its use or disposal. 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These are included in surplus or 
deficit. 
 

f) Intangible assets  

Intangible assets are initially measured at cost and consist of software for internal use.  
All of the Group’s intangible assets are subsequently measured in accordance with the cost model, being cost (or fair value for 
items acquired through non-exchange transactions) less accumulated amortisation and impairment. 
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.  
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to 
which it relates. All other expenditure is recognised in surplus or deficit, as incurred. 
Amortisation is recognised in surplus or deficit on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each amortisable 
intangible asset.  
The estimated useful lives are: 
 Software  2 years   

g) Impairment of non-financial assets  
The carrying amounts of the Group's non-financial assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any 
indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is revised accordingly. 
Impairment losses are recognised in surplus or deficit.  
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D) 
 
h) Foreign currencies  

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially accounted for at the rate of exchange ruling on the date of the transaction. 
Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are reported at the statement of financial position reporting date by 
applying the exchange rate on that date.  
Exchange differences are recognised as income or expenses in the period in which they arise. 
 
i) Equity and reserves  

Accumulated surpluses  

This represents the Group's accumulated surplus or deficit since the formation of the Group. Separate reserves representing 
an allocation on the Group's funds are disclosed in note 21. 
 
j) Employee benefits  

Liabilities for wages and salaries (including non-monetary benefits), annual leave and other benefits are recognised in 
surplus or deficit during the period in which the employee rendered the related services, and are generally expected to be 
settled wholly within 12 months of the reporting date. The liabilities for these short-term benefits are measured at the 
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 
 

k) Investment property  

Investment property is property held to earn rental income, but not for sale in the ordinary course of business or used in the 
production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes. 
 
i. Recognition and measurement  

Investment property is measured initially at cost. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of 
the investment property. The cost of self-constructed investment property includes the cost of materials and direct labour, 
any other costs directly attributable to bringing the investment property includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any 
other costs directly to bringing the investment property to a working condition for their intended use. 
 
ii. Reclassifications  
When an investment property that was previously classified as property, plant and equipment is sold, any related amount 
included in the revaluation reserve is transferred to retained earnings. 
 
When the use of an investment property changes to owner occupied, such that it results in a reclassification to property, 
plant and equipment, the property's fair value at the date of re-classification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting.  
 
For a transfer from inventories to investment property, any differences between the fair value of the property at that date 
and its previous carrying amount is recognised in surplus or deficit. 
 
iii. Depreciation  
Depreciation is charged at rates calculated to allocate the cost or valuation of the investment property less any estimated 
residual value over its remaining useful life, on a diminishing value basis. Refer policy (e) on depreciation of Property, plant 
and equipment for depreciation charged over land and buildings. 
 
iv. Derecognition  
Investment properties are derecognised either when they have been disposed of or when the investment property is 
permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit or service potential is expected from its disposal. 
Any gains and losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in surplus or deficit in the year 
of retirement or disposal. 
 
l) Reclassification  

Some comparatives have been reclassified to align with the current year presentation.
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D) 
 
e) Property, plant and equipment (CONT'D)  

iii. Depreciation  
Depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis unless specified otherwise below.  
Depreciation is charged at rates calculated to allocate the cost or valuation of the asset less any estimated residual value over its 
remaining useful life: 
 Land  not depreciated  

Buildings and improvements  4% diminishing balance method
Office equipment  2-20 years  
Computer equipment  3-5 years  
Musical instruments  3-25 years  
Music stands 5-10 years  
Music 25 years  
Motor vehicles 3-6 years  
Office refurbishment  5 years  

The assets' residual values, useful lives and amortisation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial 
year end.  
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount, or recoverable service amount, if the asset’s 
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount or recoverable service amount.  
Please refer to policy (g) on impairment of non-financial assets below.  
iv. Derecognition  
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no further future economic benefits or service 
potential are expected from its use or disposal. 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These are included in surplus or 
deficit. 
 

f) Intangible assets  

Intangible assets are initially measured at cost and consist of software for internal use.  
All of the Group’s intangible assets are subsequently measured in accordance with the cost model, being cost (or fair value for 
items acquired through non-exchange transactions) less accumulated amortisation and impairment. 
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.  
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to 
which it relates. All other expenditure is recognised in surplus or deficit, as incurred. 
Amortisation is recognised in surplus or deficit on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each amortisable 
intangible asset.  
The estimated useful lives are: 
 Software  2 years   

g) Impairment of non-financial assets  
The carrying amounts of the Group's non-financial assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any 
indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is revised accordingly. 
Impairment losses are recognised in surplus or deficit.  
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D) 
 
h) Foreign currencies  

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially accounted for at the rate of exchange ruling on the date of the transaction. 
Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are reported at the statement of financial position reporting date by 
applying the exchange rate on that date.  
Exchange differences are recognised as income or expenses in the period in which they arise. 
 
i) Equity and reserves  

Accumulated surpluses  

This represents the Group's accumulated surplus or deficit since the formation of the Group. Separate reserves representing 
an allocation on the Group's funds are disclosed in note 21. 
 
j) Employee benefits  

Liabilities for wages and salaries (including non-monetary benefits), annual leave and other benefits are recognised in 
surplus or deficit during the period in which the employee rendered the related services, and are generally expected to be 
settled wholly within 12 months of the reporting date. The liabilities for these short-term benefits are measured at the 
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 
 

k) Investment property  

Investment property is property held to earn rental income, but not for sale in the ordinary course of business or used in the 
production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes. 
 
i. Recognition and measurement  

Investment property is measured initially at cost. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of 
the investment property. The cost of self-constructed investment property includes the cost of materials and direct labour, 
any other costs directly attributable to bringing the investment property includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any 
other costs directly to bringing the investment property to a working condition for their intended use. 
 
ii. Reclassifications  
When an investment property that was previously classified as property, plant and equipment is sold, any related amount 
included in the revaluation reserve is transferred to retained earnings. 
 
When the use of an investment property changes to owner occupied, such that it results in a reclassification to property, 
plant and equipment, the property's fair value at the date of re-classification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting.  
 
For a transfer from inventories to investment property, any differences between the fair value of the property at that date 
and its previous carrying amount is recognised in surplus or deficit. 
 
iii. Depreciation  
Depreciation is charged at rates calculated to allocate the cost or valuation of the investment property less any estimated 
residual value over its remaining useful life, on a diminishing value basis. Refer policy (e) on depreciation of Property, plant 
and equipment for depreciation charged over land and buildings. 
 
iv. Derecognition  
Investment properties are derecognised either when they have been disposed of or when the investment property is 
permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit or service potential is expected from its disposal. 
Any gains and losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in surplus or deficit in the year 
of retirement or disposal. 
 
l) Reclassification  

Some comparatives have been reclassified to align with the current year presentation.
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5. REVENUE FROM EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS  

Group Trust 

 2019 2018 
Restated 2019 2018 

Restated 
 

Revenue from services rendered  2,334,590 2,630,109 2,334,592 2,630,108 
 Event sponsorship and corporate support 434,858 299,730 434,858 393,230 
 Contra Revenue 1,206,483 976,415 1,206,483 976,415 
 Revenue from other exchange transactions 357,240 225,593 277,530 159,521 
 4,333,171 4,131,847 4,253,463 4,159,274 
 

6. REVENUE FROM NON-EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS  

Grants from Trusts and Foundations  744,463 764,553 804,463 816,436 
 Fundraising and donations  940,349 1,020,028 942,349 892,778 
 Government Grants received   5,878,750 5,767,000 5,878,750 5,767,000 
 Other Grants received 

 
304,000 476,659 572,117 776,496 

 Bequests 
 

22,866 21,307 - - 
 7,890,428 8,049,547 8,197,679 8,252,710 

Other grants received  
 

Included in the above other grants figure is a grant from Foundation North towards the APO Connecting programme, 
for the amount of $230,000; (2018, $230,000).   

7. FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE EXPENSE  

Interest income  
Loans and receivables  127,462 136,312 91,107 108,917  

127,462 136,312 91,107 108,917  

Financial assets at fair value through surplus or deficit 
 

Dividends received  58,317 64,692 - -  
Interest received  98,428 109,769 - -  

156,745 174,461 - -  

Total finance income  284,207 310,773 91,107 108,917  

Interest expense  
ASB Bank overdraft  489 - 489 - 

 489 - 489 - 
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Group Trust 
 2019 2018 2019 2018 

8. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES  

i. Other gains  

Gain on disposal of equity investments 
 

49,550 216,663 - -  
Unrealised currency gains 

 
3,064 19,094 1,226 3,529  

Gain on revaluation of investments  542,175 - - -  
594,789 235,757 1,226 3,529 

ii. Other losses 
 

Loss on disposal of assets 
 

- 722 - 723  
Foreign currency losses 

 
2,736 7,265 2,110 6,763  

Loss on revaluation of assets at fair value through profit or 
loss through surplus or deficit. 

 

- 167,376 - - 
 2,736 175,363 2,110 7,486 

Total gains/(losses)  592,053 60,394 (884) (3,957) 
 

9. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES   

Trade debtors  30,058 73,929 31,047 59,249 
 Accrued subscription instalment income  199,008 215,731 199,008 215,731 
 Interest receivable  31,189 32,373 17,846 28,075 
 Other receivables  700 3,087 700 13,098 
 260,955 325,120 248,601 316,153 
 Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled up to 60-day terms.  

No allowance for impairment has been accounted for at the end of reporting period (2018: Nil) due to the current nature 
of the receivables.  

10. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  Group Trust 

 2019 2018 
Restated 2019 2018 

Current assets  

Bank accounts  1,343,090 457,660 1,167,279 304,539  
Term Deposit held by ASB  3,287,335 4,027,110 2,521,681 3,521,845 

 
Term deposit are held with ASB. Current term deposits mature within 12 months and are earning approximately 2.4% to 3.0%. 
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AUCKLAND PHILHARMONIA TRUST 

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 
        

 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  

5. REVENUE FROM EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS  

Group Trust 

 2019 2018 
Restated 2019 2018 

Restated 
 

Revenue from services rendered  2,334,590 2,630,109 2,334,592 2,630,108 
 Event sponsorship and corporate support 434,858 299,730 434,858 393,230 
 Contra Revenue 1,206,483 976,415 1,206,483 976,415 
 Revenue from other exchange transactions 357,240 225,593 277,530 159,521 
 4,333,171 4,131,847 4,253,463 4,159,274 
 

6. REVENUE FROM NON-EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS  

Grants from Trusts and Foundations  744,463 764,553 804,463 816,436 
 Fundraising and donations  940,349 1,020,028 942,349 892,778 
 Government Grants received   5,878,750 5,767,000 5,878,750 5,767,000 
 Other Grants received 

 
304,000 476,659 572,117 776,496 

 Bequests 
 

22,866 21,307 - - 
 7,890,428 8,049,547 8,197,679 8,252,710 

Other grants received  
 

Included in the above other grants figure is a grant from Foundation North towards the APO Connecting programme, 
for the amount of $230,000; (2018, $230,000).   

7. FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE EXPENSE  

Interest income  
Loans and receivables  127,462 136,312 91,107 108,917  

127,462 136,312 91,107 108,917  

Financial assets at fair value through surplus or deficit 
 

Dividends received  58,317 64,692 - -  
Interest received  98,428 109,769 - -  

156,745 174,461 - -  

Total finance income  284,207 310,773 91,107 108,917  

Interest expense  
ASB Bank overdraft  489 - 489 - 

 489 - 489 - 

 

AUCKLAND PHILHARMONIA TRUST  

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019           
 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  

Group Trust 
 2019 2018 2019 2018 

8. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES  

i. Other gains  

Gain on disposal of equity investments 
 

49,550 216,663 - -  
Unrealised currency gains 

 
3,064 19,094 1,226 3,529  

Gain on revaluation of investments  542,175 - - -  
594,789 235,757 1,226 3,529 

ii. Other losses 
 

Loss on disposal of assets 
 

- 722 - 723  
Foreign currency losses 

 
2,736 7,265 2,110 6,763  

Loss on revaluation of assets at fair value through profit or 
loss through surplus or deficit. 

 

- 167,376 - - 
 2,736 175,363 2,110 7,486 

Total gains/(losses)  592,053 60,394 (884) (3,957) 
 

9. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES   

Trade debtors  30,058 73,929 31,047 59,249 
 Accrued subscription instalment income  199,008 215,731 199,008 215,731 
 Interest receivable  31,189 32,373 17,846 28,075 
 Other receivables  700 3,087 700 13,098 
 260,955 325,120 248,601 316,153 
 Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled up to 60-day terms.  

No allowance for impairment has been accounted for at the end of reporting period (2018: Nil) due to the current nature 
of the receivables.  

10. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  Group Trust 

 2019 2018 
Restated 2019 2018 

Current assets  

Bank accounts  1,343,090 457,660 1,167,279 304,539  
Term Deposit held by ASB  3,287,335 4,027,110 2,521,681 3,521,845 

 
Term deposit are held with ASB. Current term deposits mature within 12 months and are earning approximately 2.4% to 3.0%. 
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AUCKLAND PHILHARMONIA TRUST  

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019           
 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  

11. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  

i.  Classification and fair values of financial instruments  

The tables below show the carrying amount of the Group and Trust's financial assets and financial liabilities: 

 Carrying amount 

 
Financial assets Financial 

liabilities 

 
FVTSD* Loans and 

receivables Amortised cost 

Group - 2019  

Subsequently measured at fair value:  
Investments      4,978,673  

 

Subsequently not measured at amortised cost  

Cash and cash equivalent (assets)         1,343,090  
 

Short term deposits with maturities greater than 3 months 
 

       3,287,335  
 

Receivables from exchange transactions            260,955  
 

Payables             278,069  
 

Trust - 2019  

Subsequently at amortised cost  

Cash and cash equivalent (assets)         1,167,279  
 

Short term deposits with maturities greater than 3 months 
 

       2,521,681  
 

Receivables from exchange transactions            248,601  
 

Payables             284,982  
 

Group - 2018 Restated  

Subsequently measured at fair value:  

Investments      4,649,427  
 

Subsequently at amortised cost  

Cash and cash equivalent (assets)            457,660  
 

Receivables from exchange transactions            325,120  
 

Short term deposits with maturities greater than 3 months 
 

       4,027,110  
 

Payables             416,611  
 

Trust - 2018  

Subsequently not measured at fair value  

Cash and cash equivalent (assets)            304,539  
 

Short term deposits with maturities greater than 3 months 
 

       3,521,845  
 

Receivables from exchange transactions            316,153  
 

Payables             454,503  

* Fair value through surplus or deficit  
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CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019           
 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  

11. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT'D)  

ii. Fair values  

The fair value of financial instruments subsequently measured at fair value are based on quoted market prices. 
 

iii. Investments  

Group Trust 
 2019 2018 

Restated 2019 2018 

Financial assets designated at initial recognition at fair 
value through profit or loss 

 

Cash Investments at bank and Financial Institutions            257,932         200,107                    -                          -    
Debt (New Zealand fixed interest)           2,061,392      2,239,543                    -                          -    
Debt (Global fixed interest)                 38,626            38,192                    -                          -    
New Zealand Property              365,669         288,886                    -                          -    
New Zealand equities           1,040,704         852,005                    -                          -    
Australian equities              319,907         310,436                    -                          -    
Global equities              599,013         516,100                    -                          -    
Alternative assets             295,430         204,158                    -                          -     

        4,978,673      4,649,427                    -                          -    
 
The investments are treated as one portfolio which is managed and evaluated together on a fair value basis. The Group has thus 
designated this portfolio as at fair value through surplus or deficit. This disclosure is consistent with the entity's documented risk 
management strategy. 

 
12. EMPLOYEE COSTS  Group Trust 

 2019 2018 2019 2018 

 Orchestra Calls, SI and salaries  4,576,625 4,606,335 4,576,625 4,606,335 
 Salaries - admin 

 
2,428,332 2,423,215 2,428,332 2,423,215 

 
KiwiSaver employer contributions 

 
64,751 67,751 64,751 64,751 

 
7,069,708 7,094,301 7,069,708 7,094,301 

 
13. OTHER EXPENSES  Group Trust 

 
2019 2018 

Restated 2019 2018 
Restated 

Other expenses include the following amounts:  

Occupancy  204,351 196,414 250,851 244,860 
 Marketing and promotion  788,728 720,407 788,728 720,407 
 Contra Expense  1,206,483 976,415 1,206,483 976,415 
 Venue rentals and production costs  560,953 631,107 560,953 631,107 
 Fundraising and donations expenses  139,845 130,743 139,845 130,743 
 Travel  305,246 299,878 305,246 299,878 
 

14. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS PAYABLE  

Short term employee benefits             234,795         286,744         234,795             286,744  
            234,795         286,744         234,795             286,744   
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AUCKLAND PHILHARMONIA TRUST  

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019           
 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  

11. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  

i.  Classification and fair values of financial instruments  

The tables below show the carrying amount of the Group and Trust's financial assets and financial liabilities: 

 Carrying amount 

 
Financial assets Financial 

liabilities 

 
FVTSD* Loans and 

receivables Amortised cost 

Group - 2019  

Subsequently measured at fair value:  
Investments      4,978,673  

 

Subsequently not measured at amortised cost  

Cash and cash equivalent (assets)         1,343,090  
 

Short term deposits with maturities greater than 3 months 
 

       3,287,335  
 

Receivables from exchange transactions            260,955  
 

Payables             278,069  
 

Trust - 2019  

Subsequently at amortised cost  

Cash and cash equivalent (assets)         1,167,279  
 

Short term deposits with maturities greater than 3 months 
 

       2,521,681  
 

Receivables from exchange transactions            248,601  
 

Payables             284,982  
 

Group - 2018 Restated  

Subsequently measured at fair value:  

Investments      4,649,427  
 

Subsequently at amortised cost  

Cash and cash equivalent (assets)            457,660  
 

Receivables from exchange transactions            325,120  
 

Short term deposits with maturities greater than 3 months 
 

       4,027,110  
 

Payables             416,611  
 

Trust - 2018  

Subsequently not measured at fair value  

Cash and cash equivalent (assets)            304,539  
 

Short term deposits with maturities greater than 3 months 
 

       3,521,845  
 

Receivables from exchange transactions            316,153  
 

Payables             454,503  

* Fair value through surplus or deficit  
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements  

11. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT'D)  

ii. Fair values  

The fair value of financial instruments subsequently measured at fair value are based on quoted market prices. 
 

iii. Investments  

Group Trust 
 2019 2018 

Restated 2019 2018 

Financial assets designated at initial recognition at fair 
value through profit or loss 

 

Cash Investments at bank and Financial Institutions            257,932         200,107                    -                          -    
Debt (New Zealand fixed interest)           2,061,392      2,239,543                    -                          -    
Debt (Global fixed interest)                 38,626            38,192                    -                          -    
New Zealand Property              365,669         288,886                    -                          -    
New Zealand equities           1,040,704         852,005                    -                          -    
Australian equities              319,907         310,436                    -                          -    
Global equities              599,013         516,100                    -                          -    
Alternative assets             295,430         204,158                    -                          -     

        4,978,673      4,649,427                    -                          -    
 
The investments are treated as one portfolio which is managed and evaluated together on a fair value basis. The Group has thus 
designated this portfolio as at fair value through surplus or deficit. This disclosure is consistent with the entity's documented risk 
management strategy. 

 
12. EMPLOYEE COSTS  Group Trust 

 2019 2018 2019 2018 

 Orchestra Calls, SI and salaries  4,576,625 4,606,335 4,576,625 4,606,335 
 Salaries - admin 

 
2,428,332 2,423,215 2,428,332 2,423,215 

 
KiwiSaver employer contributions 

 
64,751 67,751 64,751 64,751 

 
7,069,708 7,094,301 7,069,708 7,094,301 

 
13. OTHER EXPENSES  Group Trust 

 
2019 2018 

Restated 2019 2018 
Restated 

Other expenses include the following amounts:  

Occupancy  204,351 196,414 250,851 244,860 
 Marketing and promotion  788,728 720,407 788,728 720,407 
 Contra Expense  1,206,483 976,415 1,206,483 976,415 
 Venue rentals and production costs  560,953 631,107 560,953 631,107 
 Fundraising and donations expenses  139,845 130,743 139,845 130,743 
 Travel  305,246 299,878 305,246 299,878 
 

14. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS PAYABLE  

Short term employee benefits             234,795         286,744         234,795             286,744  
            234,795         286,744         234,795             286,744   
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AUCKLAND PHILHARMONIA TRUST 

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019         
 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  

Group Trust 
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 

17. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES  

Trade payables and accruals              278,069             416,611         283,122            421,507  
 Related party payable                         -                          -                1,860              32,997  
             278,069             416,611         284,982           454,503  

 
Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled up to 60-day terms.  

18. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  

i. Transactions and balances  

The following table provides the total amount of transactions that have been entered into with related parties for the relevant 
financial year. 

Trust 

Rent, Levies & 
donations paid 

to related 
parties 

Grants & 
revenue 

received from 
related parties 

Amounts 
owed by 
related 
parties* 

Amounts 
owed to 
related 
parties* 

Auckland Philharmonia Foundation 2019                74,935             380,117              1,837              13,369  
Auckland Philharmonia Foundation 2018                75,193             368,721              1,860              46,966   

Sistema Aotearoa Trust 2019                        -                 18,914                    -                         -    
Sistema Aotearoa Trust 2018                        -                 19,512                    -                26,206   

Friends of APO  2019                        -                 20,000                    -                         -    
Friends of APO  2018                        -                 20,000                    -                         -    
Sistema Aotearoa Trust is a related party by virtue of a common trustee. Sistema operations were transferred to this separate 
trust from 1 May 2016. The Auckland Philharmonia Trust provides administrative services to Sistema Aotearoa Trust and is 
reimbursed for these services. 
 
Auckland Philharmonia Foundation is considered a related party as the Auckland Philharmonia Trust is the primary beneficiary 
of the Foundation. The Foundation supports the Trust by providing grants and one of the premises for which the orchestra 
practices. 

* The amounts are classified as trade receivables and trade payables, respectively.  

ii. Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties  
The sales to and purchases from related parties are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length 
transactions. Outstanding balances at the year-end are unsecured and interest free. 
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16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS  

Group & Trust  

Cost 
 

Software  

 Balance as at 31 December 2018   109,301  

 Additions  
 

3,759  

 Balance as at 31 December 2019   113,060  

 Accumulated amortisation and impairment   

 Balance as at 31 December 2018   (61,911) 
 

 Amortisation  
 

(3,217) 
 

 Balance as at 31 December 2019   (65,128) 
 

 Net book value  
 

 As at 31 December 2018   47,389  

 As at 31 December 2019   47,932  
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Group Trust 
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 

17. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES  

Trade payables and accruals              278,069             416,611         283,122            421,507  
 Related party payable                         -                          -                1,860              32,997  
             278,069             416,611         284,982           454,503  

 
Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled up to 60-day terms.  

18. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  

i. Transactions and balances  

The following table provides the total amount of transactions that have been entered into with related parties for the relevant 
financial year. 

Trust 

Rent, Levies & 
donations paid 

to related 
parties 

Grants & 
revenue 

received from 
related parties 

Amounts 
owed by 
related 
parties* 

Amounts 
owed to 
related 
parties* 

Auckland Philharmonia Foundation 2019                74,935             380,117              1,837              13,369  
Auckland Philharmonia Foundation 2018                75,193             368,721              1,860              46,966   

Sistema Aotearoa Trust 2019                        -                 18,914                    -                         -    
Sistema Aotearoa Trust 2018                        -                 19,512                    -                26,206   

Friends of APO  2019                        -                 20,000                    -                         -    
Friends of APO  2018                        -                 20,000                    -                         -    
Sistema Aotearoa Trust is a related party by virtue of a common trustee. Sistema operations were transferred to this separate 
trust from 1 May 2016. The Auckland Philharmonia Trust provides administrative services to Sistema Aotearoa Trust and is 
reimbursed for these services. 
 
Auckland Philharmonia Foundation is considered a related party as the Auckland Philharmonia Trust is the primary beneficiary 
of the Foundation. The Foundation supports the Trust by providing grants and one of the premises for which the orchestra 
practices. 

* The amounts are classified as trade receivables and trade payables, respectively.  

ii. Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties  
The sales to and purchases from related parties are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length 
transactions. Outstanding balances at the year-end are unsecured and interest free. 
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16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS  

Group & Trust  

Cost 
 

Software  

 Balance as at 31 December 2018   109,301  

 Additions  
 

3,759  

 Balance as at 31 December 2019   113,060  

 Accumulated amortisation and impairment   

 Balance as at 31 December 2018   (61,911) 
 

 Amortisation  
 

(3,217) 
 

 Balance as at 31 December 2019   (65,128) 
 

 Net book value  
 

 As at 31 December 2018   47,389  

 As at 31 December 2019   47,932  
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

18.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTD)  

iii. Compensation of key management personnel  

Key management personnel, as defined by Board, are the Chief Executive Officer and other employees who have the 
authority and responsibilities for planning and controlling the activity of Auckland Philharmonia Trust. 
No remuneration is paid to the members of the Board of the Foundation or the Trust. The Foundation has no other key 
management personnel. The aggregate remuneration of key management personnel and the number of individuals, 
determined on a full-time equivalent basis, receiving remuneration is as follows:  
 Group Trust 

 2019 2018 2019 2018 
Total remuneration - employees 

 
858,785 862,349 858,785 862,349 

Number of FTE employees 
  

 
6.8     6.8               6.8       6.8 

19. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD AND GOING CONCERN 
 
Subsequent events and going concern: 
COVID-19 (also known as Coronavirus) is now a pandemic affecting people, businesses and economies across the world. 
Measures to prevent, contain and delay its spread include travel restrictions, institutional and business closures, 
restrictions on gatherings and meetings, and quarantining, isolation and social distancing, resulting in many people 
working remotely and significant disruptions to ways an entity would normally operate. 

On 26 March 2020 the New Zealand government put the country into a four-week lock-down and has stated that only 
essential services are able to continue. It is not known whether this lock down will be extended as this will depend on the 
progression of COVID-19 over this period. 

The above conditions create a material uncertainty as to when the orchestra can resume its operations. The financial 
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and the Board has had to assess whether circumstances likely to 
occur within one year from the date of approval of these financial statements support this basis of preparation.  

The Board have prepared an analysis showing that the Trust could operate without performance income and satisfy its 
obligations from existing resources/reserves for a period of 12 months from approval of the financial statements. 

The Trust has already taken significant steps to reduce costs and ensure that non-performance income remains at as high a 
level as possible. A significant portion of our income is from central and local government and in addition we are applying 
for the Government relief package.  The Trust has a high level of cash reserves and the Trustees have received a written 
letter of support from the Foundation. 

As a result of the above, the Board has concluded the going concern basis remains appropriate for the preparation of these 
financial statements. However, the full long-term financial effect of this situation cannot be determined at the date of 
signing.  

Should the Trust be unable to continue as a going concern it may be required to realise its assets and discharge its 
liabilities other than in the normal course of business and at amounts different to those stated in the Trust financial 
statements. The Trust financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification 
of asset carrying amounts or the amount of liabilities that might result should the Trust be unable to continue as a going 
concern and meets its debts as and when they fall due. 
 
20. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  

Group Trust 
Operating lease - property  2019 2018 2019 2018 
Less than 1 year  113,331 111,308 113,331 111,308 
Between 1 and 5 years                    339,992 111,308 339,992 111,308 
 453,323 222,616 453,323 222,616  
On 18 December 2015, the Trust signed a deed of lease for premises in the Auckland Town Hall for a duration of 5 years.  The current operating 
lease commitment relates only to that lease. There is a right of renewal for three years in addition to the minimum -term disclosed above. There 
were no other material commitments or contingencies at year end (2018: Nil). 
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21. RESERVES  
The accumulated surplus of the group is comprised of that of both the Trust and its controlled entity, the Auckland 
Philharmonia Foundation.   
 

Group Trust 
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 

Operating reserves 
Auckland Philharmonia Trust 1,378,175 1,718,124 1,378,175 1,718,124 
Auckland Philharmonia Foundation's 
Distributable Reserve 

1,455,336 1,100,672 - - 

 2,833,511 2,818,796 1,378,175 1,718,124 

 
Sustainable Capital Reserve 

Auckland Philharmonia Trust 1,925,174 1,925,174 1,925,174 1,925,174 
Auckland Philharmonia Foundation –  
Non distributable reserves 

5,339,345 5,125,655 - - 
7,264,519 7,050,829 1,925,174 1,925,174 

 
10,098,030 9,869,625 3,303,349 3,643,298 

Operating reserves
These represent the residual amount of the accumulated surplus available. Please note that due to the new Financial 
Reporting requirements; Auckland Regional Amenities Funding Board grant of $1,596,000 received in 2019 for the period 1 
January 2020 to 30 June 2020 is recorded under operating reserves for 2019. 

 
Sustainable Capital Reserve  
This reserve represents funds that have been set aside by the board and are not available for general operations. 
This balance in the Trust as a separate entity, has been determined relative to the annual operating expenditure level, 
based on Creative New Zealand guidelines set out in their 2008 Reserve Incentive Scheme.  For the Auckland Philharmonia 
Foundation, in keeping with the endowment nature of the fund, the trustees have resolved to maintain specific grants and 
bequests in a separate reserve.    
The Auckland Philharmonia Foundation (Foundation) is an independent charitable trust established in 1987 for general 
charitable purposes including, but not exclusively, for the benefit of the Auckland Philharmonia Orchestra (APO). 
Administered by an independent trust board of seven trustees, the Foundation is distinct and separate from the Auckland 
Philharmonia Trust (APT). While one Foundation trustee is also an APT trustee, the Foundation trustees act separately 
from and independently of the APT. 
 
In 2016, the financial reporting standards for Public Benefit Entities (such as the APT and Foundation) came into effect. 
Notwithstanding the independent status of the Foundation and the inability of the APT to demand or require financial 
support from the Foundation, under the financial reporting standard the APT must nevertheless treat the Foundation as if 
it were part of the APT ‘group’. This is because the APT is the primary beneficiary of grants made by the Foundation, and 
the APT has the ability to appoint trustees to the Foundation board. 
 
Each year, the APT may submit a grant application to the Foundation. However, there is no obligation on the Foundation to 
approve any or all of the application. The decision is at the discretion of the Foundation trustees, after considering their 
responsibilities as trustees of the Foundation.  
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18.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTD)  

iii. Compensation of key management personnel  

Key management personnel, as defined by Board, are the Chief Executive Officer and other employees who have the 
authority and responsibilities for planning and controlling the activity of Auckland Philharmonia Trust. 
No remuneration is paid to the members of the Board of the Foundation or the Trust. The Foundation has no other key 
management personnel. The aggregate remuneration of key management personnel and the number of individuals, 
determined on a full-time equivalent basis, receiving remuneration is as follows:  
 Group Trust 

 2019 2018 2019 2018 
Total remuneration - employees 

 
858,785 862,349 858,785 862,349 

Number of FTE employees 
  

 
6.8     6.8               6.8       6.8 

19. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD AND GOING CONCERN 
 
Subsequent events and going concern: 
COVID-19 (also known as Coronavirus) is now a pandemic affecting people, businesses and economies across the world. 
Measures to prevent, contain and delay its spread include travel restrictions, institutional and business closures, 
restrictions on gatherings and meetings, and quarantining, isolation and social distancing, resulting in many people 
working remotely and significant disruptions to ways an entity would normally operate. 

On 26 March 2020 the New Zealand government put the country into a four-week lock-down and has stated that only 
essential services are able to continue. It is not known whether this lock down will be extended as this will depend on the 
progression of COVID-19 over this period. 

The above conditions create a material uncertainty as to when the orchestra can resume its operations. The financial 
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and the Board has had to assess whether circumstances likely to 
occur within one year from the date of approval of these financial statements support this basis of preparation.  

The Board have prepared an analysis showing that the Trust could operate without performance income and satisfy its 
obligations from existing resources/reserves for a period of 12 months from approval of the financial statements. 

The Trust has already taken significant steps to reduce costs and ensure that non-performance income remains at as high a 
level as possible. A significant portion of our income is from central and local government and in addition we are applying 
for the Government relief package.  The Trust has a high level of cash reserves and the Trustees have received a written 
letter of support from the Foundation. 

As a result of the above, the Board has concluded the going concern basis remains appropriate for the preparation of these 
financial statements. However, the full long-term financial effect of this situation cannot be determined at the date of 
signing.  

Should the Trust be unable to continue as a going concern it may be required to realise its assets and discharge its 
liabilities other than in the normal course of business and at amounts different to those stated in the Trust financial 
statements. The Trust financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification 
of asset carrying amounts or the amount of liabilities that might result should the Trust be unable to continue as a going 
concern and meets its debts as and when they fall due. 
 
20. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  

Group Trust 
Operating lease - property  2019 2018 2019 2018 
Less than 1 year  113,331 111,308 113,331 111,308 
Between 1 and 5 years                    339,992 111,308 339,992 111,308 
 453,323 222,616 453,323 222,616  
On 18 December 2015, the Trust signed a deed of lease for premises in the Auckland Town Hall for a duration of 5 years.  The current operating 
lease commitment relates only to that lease. There is a right of renewal for three years in addition to the minimum -term disclosed above. There 
were no other material commitments or contingencies at year end (2018: Nil). 
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21. RESERVES  
The accumulated surplus of the group is comprised of that of both the Trust and its controlled entity, the Auckland 
Philharmonia Foundation.   
 

Group Trust 
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 

Operating reserves 
Auckland Philharmonia Trust 1,378,175 1,718,124 1,378,175 1,718,124 
Auckland Philharmonia Foundation's 
Distributable Reserve 

1,455,336 1,100,672 - - 

 2,833,511 2,818,796 1,378,175 1,718,124 

 
Sustainable Capital Reserve 

Auckland Philharmonia Trust 1,925,174 1,925,174 1,925,174 1,925,174 
Auckland Philharmonia Foundation –  
Non distributable reserves 

5,339,345 5,125,655 - - 
7,264,519 7,050,829 1,925,174 1,925,174 

 
10,098,030 9,869,625 3,303,349 3,643,298 

Operating reserves
These represent the residual amount of the accumulated surplus available. Please note that due to the new Financial 
Reporting requirements; Auckland Regional Amenities Funding Board grant of $1,596,000 received in 2019 for the period 1 
January 2020 to 30 June 2020 is recorded under operating reserves for 2019. 

 
Sustainable Capital Reserve  
This reserve represents funds that have been set aside by the board and are not available for general operations. 
This balance in the Trust as a separate entity, has been determined relative to the annual operating expenditure level, 
based on Creative New Zealand guidelines set out in their 2008 Reserve Incentive Scheme.  For the Auckland Philharmonia 
Foundation, in keeping with the endowment nature of the fund, the trustees have resolved to maintain specific grants and 
bequests in a separate reserve.    
The Auckland Philharmonia Foundation (Foundation) is an independent charitable trust established in 1987 for general 
charitable purposes including, but not exclusively, for the benefit of the Auckland Philharmonia Orchestra (APO). 
Administered by an independent trust board of seven trustees, the Foundation is distinct and separate from the Auckland 
Philharmonia Trust (APT). While one Foundation trustee is also an APT trustee, the Foundation trustees act separately 
from and independently of the APT. 
 
In 2016, the financial reporting standards for Public Benefit Entities (such as the APT and Foundation) came into effect. 
Notwithstanding the independent status of the Foundation and the inability of the APT to demand or require financial 
support from the Foundation, under the financial reporting standard the APT must nevertheless treat the Foundation as if 
it were part of the APT ‘group’. This is because the APT is the primary beneficiary of grants made by the Foundation, and 
the APT has the ability to appoint trustees to the Foundation board. 
 
Each year, the APT may submit a grant application to the Foundation. However, there is no obligation on the Foundation to 
approve any or all of the application. The decision is at the discretion of the Foundation trustees, after considering their 
responsibilities as trustees of the Foundation.  
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21.  RESERVES (CONTD) 
 

Readers of the APT’s financial statements, therefore, need to be aware that amounts relating to the Foundation included 
in the APT’s group financial statements are not available to, the APT for general operations.   
The nature of the non-distributable reserve is that all capital contributed (such as property, donations and bequests) is 
used for accumulation not distribution.  Distributable funds are derived solely from annual net income generated from 
investment earnings (after deduction of donations and an annual inflation allowance that are transferred to the non-
distributable reserve). 
 
While funds may be classified as distributable, there is no requirement that they be dispensed. Trustees exercise their 
judgement, taking into account the sustainability of the distributable reserve, and assess any request for a grant against a 
range of criteria, including whether the purpose of the grant is to lift the standard of the orchestra or to support the long-
term future and growth of the orchestra. 
 

22. PRIOR PERIOD RE-CLASSIFICATION 
The Foundation has reclassified $200,107 from ‘Cash and cash equivalents’ reported in the Statement of financial position 
as at 31 December 2018 to ‘Investments’, in compliance with PBE IPSAS 29 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement. This relates to the Foundation’s investment portfolio which is managed by a third party. At 31 December 
2018 the portfolio included uninvested cash of $200,107 which the Foundation had previously reported within ‘Cash and 
cash equivalents’. IPSAS 29 requires this to be included within ‘Investments’. 
 
The reclassification also impacts reported ‘Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period’ in the Statement of 
Cashflows for the year ended 31 December 2018 by the same amount, comprising a reduction in ‘Cash and cash 
equivalents at the beginning of the period’ of $200,107 and a reduction in ‘Sales/(Purchases) of investments (shares and 
bonds) of $57,825.  

As per PBE3 (IPAS 3) the Trust has restated the comparative amount for the prior year for contra revenue and 
expense.  This is due to change in our accounting policy to include goods and services received in kind at fair value.  This 
change does not impact the surplus or deficit but increases the income and expense equally by $1,206,483; (2018, 
$976,415).  

The Group has also reclassified Land and Buildings within Property, Plant and Equipment of $267,012 reported in the 
Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018 to 'Investment Property', in compliance with PBE IPSAS 16 - 
Investment Property. This relates to the properties held by the Group that are rented to third parties. PBE IPSAS 16 there 
requires this to be classified as 'Investment Property'.  
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21.  RESERVES (CONTD) 
 

Readers of the APT’s financial statements, therefore, need to be aware that amounts relating to the Foundation included 
in the APT’s group financial statements are not available to, the APT for general operations.   
The nature of the non-distributable reserve is that all capital contributed (such as property, donations and bequests) is 
used for accumulation not distribution.  Distributable funds are derived solely from annual net income generated from 
investment earnings (after deduction of donations and an annual inflation allowance that are transferred to the non-
distributable reserve). 
 
While funds may be classified as distributable, there is no requirement that they be dispensed. Trustees exercise their 
judgement, taking into account the sustainability of the distributable reserve, and assess any request for a grant against a 
range of criteria, including whether the purpose of the grant is to lift the standard of the orchestra or to support the long-
term future and growth of the orchestra. 
 

22. PRIOR PERIOD RE-CLASSIFICATION 
The Foundation has reclassified $200,107 from ‘Cash and cash equivalents’ reported in the Statement of financial position 
as at 31 December 2018 to ‘Investments’, in compliance with PBE IPSAS 29 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement. This relates to the Foundation’s investment portfolio which is managed by a third party. At 31 December 
2018 the portfolio included uninvested cash of $200,107 which the Foundation had previously reported within ‘Cash and 
cash equivalents’. IPSAS 29 requires this to be included within ‘Investments’. 
 
The reclassification also impacts reported ‘Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period’ in the Statement of 
Cashflows for the year ended 31 December 2018 by the same amount, comprising a reduction in ‘Cash and cash 
equivalents at the beginning of the period’ of $200,107 and a reduction in ‘Sales/(Purchases) of investments (shares and 
bonds) of $57,825.  

As per PBE3 (IPAS 3) the Trust has restated the comparative amount for the prior year for contra revenue and 
expense.  This is due to change in our accounting policy to include goods and services received in kind at fair value.  This 
change does not impact the surplus or deficit but increases the income and expense equally by $1,206,483; (2018, 
$976,415).  

The Group has also reclassified Land and Buildings within Property, Plant and Equipment of $267,012 reported in the 
Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018 to 'Investment Property', in compliance with PBE IPSAS 16 - 
Investment Property. This relates to the properties held by the Group that are rented to third parties. PBE IPSAS 16 there 
requires this to be classified as 'Investment Property'.  
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DONOR S

PLATI N U M

Auckland Council

Auckland Live

Auckland Philharmonia Foundation

Creative New Zealand

Foundation North

Four Winds Foundation

Freemasons Foundation

Pub Charity Limited

Sir William and Lady Manchester  
Charitable Trust

Staples Education Foundation

Trillian Trust

The Trusts Community Foundation

The Wallace Foundation

Adrian Burr

Dame Jenny Gibbs

GOLD

Chisholm Whitney Family Charitable Trust

The Douglas Goodfellow Charitable Trust

Potter Masonic Trust

Rua and Clarrie Stevens Charitable Trust

Stout Trust

Audrey Hay

S I LVE R

Auckland Philharmonia Orchestra Friends

Deirdre & Tony Anselmi Family Trust

Lesley French Estate

The Lion Foundation

The Lou and Iris Fisher Charitable Trust

Manukau Westmere Lodge  
Charitable Trust

Maurice Paykel Charitable Trust

Mount Wellington Foundation

Sir John Logan Campbell  
Residuary Estate

Richard Ebbett

B RON Z E

The Hamana Charitable Trust

James Russell Lewis Trust

Ministry of Education

NZCT

Charline Hamilton Baker

Roger & Joanna Booth

Hon. John Boscawen

Peter & Fay Cropper

Helen Gaeta

John & Eleanor Gibb

Sandra Greenfield

Anne Hargreaves

Eric Johnston & Alison Buchanan

Eddie & Michele Mann

Coral Mazlin-Hill in memory of  
the late Willi Hill

Gaynor & Humphrey Nisbet

Dame Judith Potter

Vicki & Ian Ross

Bill & Rosemary Sanderson

The Auckland Philharmonia Orchestra gratefully acknowledges the contributions made by the following organisations 
and individuals whose funds support the work of the orchestra: its main stage concert series and its community, 
outreach and education concerts and other programmes.
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Warren & Sandra Cant

Dr Sylvia Rosevear

David & Dian Ross

Andrew & Jenny Smith

Peter Wilson & Gerda McGechan

Lindsay & Janet Spilman

SU PPORTE R S CI RCLE

Jack & Liz Alison

Jack Astley

Dianne & Jeremy Aubin

Diane Baguley

Anita Banbury

Mary Barry & Thomas Curham

Claire & Peter Bruell

Ronald Bruell & Pamela Hayward

Kathryn & Andrew Burgess

Christina Chan 

Raewyn Dalziel

Erica & Frans De Court Onderwater

Wayne Dyer

Sue Emmott

Beverly Gentles 

Barbara Glaser & Richard Panting

John Gow

David & Sally Graham

John & Trish Gribben

Joan & John Guthrie

Bruce & Wendy Hadden

Geoffrey H. Haughey

Rosemary & Brian Hedge

Brett Henshaw

Michael & Dame Rosie Horton

Robert & Hilary Howard

Robert Jenkins

Pare Keiha 

John & Janet King

Alan Kinnear

Robert Kinnear

Ashley Wade Leach &  
Hannah Holland 

Peter & Gael Levin

Alan & Caroline List

Stephen Lloyd

John & Sue Maasland

Fraser & Linda Macfarlane

Joan Maxwell

Beverly McConnell

Alison & Ken McKenzie

Dame Rosanne Meo

Alison Morton

Ken and Madelene Moon 

Andre & Helene Muller

Anna Nathan & David Williams

Michael & Adriana Nicholls

Ronald & Ruth Niven

Denver & Prue Olde 

Claire Parkinson

David & Jackie Pittman

Carolyn Reid

Maria Renhart

Dr Roger Reynolds

John & Judy Robertson

Rachel Ronaldson

Rosser Foundation 

Dr Sylvia Rosevear

Oliver & Kylie Sealy

John & Mirabel Sievers

Patricia Sinclair

Gillian Spencer

Stuart Thompson &  
Michael Dennis

Gael & Earl Thompson

Gwynne Urquhart

Chris Wadham

Ainsley Walter & Mark Stewart 

Dr John Werry

Jane Williams

Peter Wilson &  
Gerda McGechan

Listed are all donors who have given over $500 since 1 January 2019.  
Donations by individuals of $5 or more attract a tax rebate of 33.33%.

THERE ARE MANY WAYS YOU CAN SUPPORT THE ORCHESTRA.
To find out more information, visit us online:

 apo.co.nz/support-donate 

Or contact:

Susan Wall, Director of Development 
 susanw@apo.co.nz  (09) 638 6266 ext 233 

Development team:
 development@apo.co.nz

AP O.C O.N Z 59



AUCKLAN D PH I LHAR MON IA ORCH E STRA

CHAI R DONOR S

The Auckland Philharmonia Orchestra gratefully acknowledges the following generous donations to our Chair Donor 
programme. Chair Donors enjoy a special relationship with individual orchestra players and receive invitations to 
exclusive events throughout the year.

M US IC D I R ECTOR CHAI R

Leigh & Jennie Auton Pare Keiha Julian Smith & Craig McAlpine

CONCE RTMASTE R CHAI R S

The David & Genevieve Becroft Foundation Joy Clark Dame Jenny Gibbs

PR I NCI PAL & TUTTI CHAI R S 

Deirdre & Tony Anselmi Family Trust

Auckland Philharmonia Orchestra Friends

Alex Baker

Charline Hamilton Baker

Roger & Joanna Booth

Adrian Burr

Warren & Sandra Cant

Barry & Trish Clapham

Robert & Louise Clark

Sally Clatworthy

John & Margaret Cullen

Paul & Alison Dyson

Richard Ebbett

Charles & Tana Fishman

Mark & Amber Gatward

Barbara Glaser & Richard Panting

Gae Griffiths

Lois Hadfield

Haines Family

Audrey Hay

Brett Henshaw

Stephen & Gail Hofmann

Michael & Dame Rosie Horton

Jennifer Knutsen

Robert Kinnear

Murray & Jill Lander

Stephen Lloyd

David Lovell

MakeReady Ltd

Eddie & Michele Mann

Marshall Day Acoustics

Geraint A. Martin & Sam Cliffe

Joan Maxwell

Dame Rosanne Meo

Dr Tom & Ann Morris

Denver & Prue Olde

Ralph & Penny Roberts

Dr Sylvia Rosevear

David & Dian Ross 

Vicki & Ian Ross

Mark Rowley

Avril & John Ryan

Gregory & Vlasta Shanahan

Signs Around Town Ltd

Andrew & Jenny Smith

Janet Smith

Sidney Smith

Martin Sowter & Alison Pereira

Lindsay & Janet Spilman

Rua & Clarrie Stevens  
Charitable Trust

Brian & Pam Stevenson

Haydn Staples & Lynley Stewart

Dame Adrienne Stewart

The Trusts Community Foundation

The Wallace Foundation

Penelope Weber

Peter Wilson & Gerda McGechan

3 anonymous donors

For information about opportunities to support the orchestra please contact:  
Charlotte Crocker  development@apo.co.nz  (09) 638 6266 ext 234 

60

AP O AN N UAL  R E P O RT 2019



AUCKLAN D PH I LHAR MON IA ORCH E STRA

21ST CE NTU RY 
CI RCLE

The 21st Century Circle recognises donors who have made gifts in their wills to the Auckland Philharmonia 
Foundation. The Foundation is dedicated to securing an inspirational future for the APO through its endowment 
fund. All gifts made in wills help build this endowment, which will enable the orchestra to go from strength to 
strength and play a part in shaping the cultural future of Auckland. 

June Allen

Dr Ian Ball

Carol & Alan Best

L & J Bishell

Kevin Bishop

Joanna Booth

Hon. John Boscawen

Warren & Sandra Cant

Canterdale Trust

Angela Caughey

Pamela Chalmers

Kath Cherney

Barry Clapham

Tom Darrington

C L Davidson

Christopher Devereaux

Una Dowding

Robert G. Eady

Richard Ebbett

Graeme Edwards

Robert & Anne Feigel

Judy Ganley

Roger Giese

Barbara Glaser

Jean Glenister

Pamela Gould

Dora Green

Gae Griffiths

Lois & Richard Hadfield

John Harris

Geoffrey H. Haughey

Graeme & Margaret Hitch

Robert & Hilary Howard

Trevor Hudson

Neil Jenkins

Eric Johnston & Alison Buchanan

Frank Jones

Katherine Kozel & Matt Hennessy

Liggins Family Trust

David Lovell

Ken & Pat Meiklejohn

Pamela Melding

Darryl Milner

Dr Tom & Ann Morris

Denver & Prue Olde

Jackie Pittman

Dame Judith Potter

John & Jessica Pybus

Nyla Rae

Carolyn Reid

Claire Reynolds

Julia Reynolds

Dr Sylvia Rosevear

David & Dian Ross

Stewart & Pauline Rundle

Olivia Sheehan

Paula & Jim Stephen

Gordon & Madeline Stern

Ian Stevenson

Anne Stewart

Garrick Stuckey

Elizabeth Swier

Donald Trott

Belinda Vernon

Sir James Wallace

Pauline Wetton

Peter Wilson & Gerda McGechan

Lynette Youlden

There are a further 52 anonymous  
promised bequests.

The Auckland Philharmonia Foundation gratefully acknowledges recent bequests advised and received from the estates of Sylvia Hilton, 
Elizabeth Bowie, Ed Dowding, Hilda Godley, Noni Kenny, Margaret Kealy, Elaine Marjorie Robinson and MM & DJ Robertson Charitable Trust.

For more information about leaving a gift in your will to the Auckland Philharmonia Foundation, contact: 
Adele Diviney  adeled@apo.co.nz  ((09) 638 6266 ext 247
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S PON SOR S

Auckland Philharmonia Orchestra gratefully acknowledges the significant contributions made by  
the following corporate sponsors in 2019.

Adrian Malloch Photography

Artedomus

Karajoz Coffee

Marshall Day Acoustics

Naxos Music Group

Orongo Bay Homestead

Scarecrow – deli, café & florist

St John

2will Physiotherapy & Pilates Studio

PLATI N U M

S I LVE R

B RON Z E

For information about business partnerships and corporate events, contact:  partnerships@apo.co.nz  (09) 638 6266 ext 201

GOLD
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PO Box 7083 
Victoria Street 
Auckland 1142

Phone (09) 638 6266 
APO Ticketing (09) 623 1052

 apo@apo.co.nz 
 apo.co.nz 
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 @aporchestra 
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